<u>Community assembly in subtidal macroalgal communities: The importance of environmental gradients</u>

by

Valerie Mucciarelli BSc, Western University, 2006

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in the School of Environmental Studies

© Valerie Mucciarelli, 2014 University of Victoria

All rights reserved. This thesis may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without the permission of the author.

Supervisory Committee

<u>Community assembly in subtidal macroalgal communities: The importance of</u> <u>environmental gradients</u>

by

Valerie Mucciarelli BSc, Western University, 2006

Supervisory Committee

Dr. John Volpe (School of Environmental Studies) Supervisor

Dr. Brian Starzomski (School of Environmental Studies) Departmental Member

Doug Biffard Outside Member

Abstract

Supervisory Committee

Dr. John Volpe (School of Environmental Studies) Supervisor Dr. Brian Starzomski (School of Environmental Studies) Departmental Member Doug Biffard Outside Member

As human activity along coastlines increase, degradation and destruction of coastal marine ecosystems around the globe will increase at an alarming rate. In an effort to mitigate degradation and destruction of coastal marine ecosystems, artificial reefs have been used in restoration and enhancement projects. As artificial reefs are the main method of restoring diversity to a degraded area, it is important to know the mechanisms that drive marine community assembly and diversity on those reefs. Understanding community assembly patterns of foundational species, in particular, may provide insight to community assembly patterns at higher trophic levels. Subtidal macroalgae are commonly seen as foundational species in marine environments and both deterministic and stochastic processes play a role in their assembly. Environmental gradients, which are deterministic processes, play a significant role in structuring subtidal macroalgae communities. Depth, which is negatively correlated with light, is the main driver structuring subtidal macroalgal communities, however, other gradients such as water flow, and distance to a propagule source also impact their assembly. This study sought to determine which environmental gradients play a prominent role in subtidal macroalgal community assembly. To study subtidal macroalgal community assembly, 92 artificial reef units called Reef Balls were deployed east of the Ogden Point Breakwater in Victoria, BC in June 2009. Two years passed to allow for macroalgal growth and early successional processes to occur prior to sampling the communities on thirty Reef Balls via underwater collection in July 2011. Algae were sorted by genus and dry weight was measured. To determine effects of environmental gradients on community assembly light, depth, water flow, distance to the nearest Reef Ball and distance to the breakwater

were measured at each Reef Ball. A redundancy analysis revealed that depth was the most significant environmental gradient shaping algae communities and had the greatest effect on upper canopy algae. Spatial plots reveal a depth and coastline zonation of algae genera comprising the canopy. While depth was found to significantly structure algae genera found in the canopy, there was a high degree of unexplained variation in the model. This suggests that unmeasured variables such as colonization and priority effects may be driving algal community structure in the lower canopy. Differences in community structure between upper and lower canopy reveal that multiple mechanisms are responsible for shaping subtidal algal communities. Further study is required to determine the importance of stochastic colonization events and priority effects.

Table of Contents

Supervisory Committee	ii
Abstract	. iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	. vi
List of Figures	vii
Acknowledgments	X
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Degradation of Marine Ecosystems	1
1.2 Mechanisms driving community assembly in marine ecosystems	2
1.3 Environmental Gradients and Abiotic Factors Affecting Algal Communities in	
Subtidal Marine Ecosystems	4
Chapter 2 Methods	8
2.1 Overview	8
2.1 Study Site	8
2.2 Reef Balls	10
2.3 Sampling Design	11
2.4 Measured Environmental Gradients	15
2.5 Sampling the algae community	24
2.6 Statistical Analysis	27
Chapter 3 Results	34
3.1 Environmental Gradients and Diversity	34
3.2 Environmental Gradients and Community Composition	35
3.3 Community Assembly Patterns	43
Chapter 4 Discussion	45
4.1 Overview	45
4.2 Environmental Gradients	45
4.3 Stochastic Colonization and Priority Effects	51
4.4 Study Limitations	54
4.5 Overall Conclusions	57
4.7 Future Research	59
Bibliography	61
Appendix I	74
Appendix II	79

List of Tables

Table 1. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with environmental variables as explantory variables and richness as response variable. Full model: richness ~ flow + depth + light + distance to reef ball + distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom 34

Table 2. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with
environmental variables as explantory variables and Shannon Entropy as response
variable. Full model: shannon entropy ~ flow + depth + light + distance to reef ball +
distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom35

Table 3. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with
environmental variables as explantory variables and Simpson Diversity Number as
response variable. Full model: simpson diversity number ~ flow + depth + light +
distance to reef ball + distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom35

Table 4. Scores for genera that were most affected by extreme values of explanatory
variables for each constrained axis (RDA) and the first two unconstrained axes (PC).Genera scores represent the coordinates for the vectors representing genera in the triplot.Biplot scores of explanatory variables are located below genera scores.Biplot scores of the explanatory variable vectors in the triplot.36

Table 5. Algae genera collected from Reef Balls, the code name for each genera used inthe RDA triplot, functional group to which they belong and the total biomass ofgenera collected from all Reef Balls79

Table 6. Genera richness, Shannon Entropy, and Simpson Diversity Number valuesacross Reef Balls80

Table 7. Raw data for environmental gradients measured at each Reef Ball81

List of Figures

Figure 1. Location of sampling site at the Ogden Point Breakwater, Victoria, BC. The rectangle outlines the sampling area. Yellow circles represent Reef Balls
Figure 2. Reef Ball (http://www.reefball.org/) 11
Figure 3. Photo of Reef Ball deployment method. A hydraulic davit on a landing craft was used to lower Reef Balls to ocean floor
Figure 4. Aerial perspective of the Reef Balls. Orange circles are sampled Reef Balls, white circles are non-sampled Reef Balls
Figure 5. Photo of a circular quadrat located on the upper hemisphere of a Reef Ball. Circular quadrats are fastened to the Reef Balls using cable ties. Photo credit: Michael Blazecka
Figure 6. Dissolution dome calibration experimental set-up.
Figure 7. Calculated total weight loss (g) of dissolution domes that would occur over a 24 hour period based on measured total weight loss of dissolution domes exposed to six different water velocities (m/s) for a 6 hour period. Circles represent the calculated weight loss that would occur over a 24 hour period for each dissolution dome exposed at each of the six different water velocities. There were ten replicates measured for each water velocity and thus ten circles at each water velocity on the graph. Water velocity represented in this graph is the corrected water velocity experienced by the dissolution domes. The corrected water velocity was calculated by subtracting the velocity of the water moving in the same direction as the dissolution domes so as to obtain the true water velocity experienced by the domes (Thompson and Glenn 1994). The red line was obtained by conducting a linear regression between calculated weight loss (g) and water velocity (m/s). The equation of the slope of the regression line was used to calculate the velocity of water at each sampled Reef Ball in the study sites based on the weight loss of the dissolution domes measured at at that site
Figure 8. Mounting system for the Sekonic Marine Metre II L-164B
Figure 9. Miles and Whitlatch (1997) modified suction sampler
Figure 10. RDA triplot of Hellinger transformed algae genera biomass and Reef Balls constrained by environmental variables. The bottom and left hand scales are the standard deviations for standardized algae genera biomass and the right hand and top scales are

constrained by environmental variables. The bottom and left hand scales are the standard deviations for standardized algae genera biomass and the right hand and top scales are standard deviations of standardized explanatory variables. Green numbers represent Reef Ball number, their location can be found in Appendix I Figure 13. Arrow length indicates the relative influence of environmental variables (blue) and the relative

abundance of algae genera (red). The angle between a vector representing algae and a vector representing abiotic factors, between two algae vectors, or between two abiotic factor vectors, is a reflection of their correlation. The first two axes of the RDA triplot represent 19% and 3% of the variation in algae genera. The corresponding names of algae genera represented by codes in the plot can be found in Appendix II, Table 5. 38

Figure 15. Distribution of dry algae biomass (g) across Reef Balls. The axes represent UTM values for a WGS-1984 projection. The breakwater would be located in the direction of increasing Northing UTMs and the shore located in the direction of increasing Easting UTMs. Name of the algae genus represented in the plot are located above the plot. Size of the circle indicates the relative biomass of algae genera found at each Reef Ball across the study site. The location of the circles represent the location of

Acknowledgments

This project would not have been possible without the support and assistance of a long list of people. I'd like to thank my supervisor John for his guidance, support, and belief that anything is possible with this project. Thank you to my committee member Brian Starzomski who provided endless positive support and advice. I am very grateful to have Doug Biffard on my committee who played an imperative role in my scientific diving education, training, and certification that was imperative for this project.

To my lab mates Ashley Park, Helen Ford, Jennifer Gee, Dane Stabel, Kris Kloehn, Valerie Ethier, and Martina Beck thank you for all of your support and for providing a sounding board when I needed to discuss ideas. Thank you Helen for introducing me to Jen DeMedeiros, who was the link to this project, and thank you to Jen for all the ground work that you did to make this project possible. I'd like to thank John Roe and the Veins of Life Watershed Society for giving me the opportunity to use their donated Reef Balls in this project.

The logistics of this project were immense and a large group of people made the completion of this project possible. Thank you to those involved in the deployment of the Reef Balls: Doug from Trincomali Transport who deployed the Reef Balls, Bevan Hodgson who transported Reef Balls, Dave Elia, my cousin, who provided support and a strong arm during Reef Ball deployment.

A huge thank you goes out to the divers who provided their expertise in an attempt to assist me in moving the Reef Balls underwater to obtain a block design: Guy Shockey, Mark Gottfried, Dave Healy, Richard Parker, Kim Buschman, Isabelle Keesey, Tod Keesey, Martina Beck, Jordan Lamarche, and the Canadian Navy Diving team.

This project truly was a community effort. A huge thank you goes out to my core group of divers who dove with me day after day to collect my data. Thank you for being such reliable, positive, and hard-working dive buddies. The data collection would not have been possible without each of you. Thank you Michael Blazecka, Rupert Evans, Ian Redan, Ian Stephen, Donna Beesley, and Don Sproul. Many divers from the Victoria community assisted with this project and I am forever grateful for their help. These people include Erika Grebeldinger, Alex Spicer, Dane Stabel, Adam Baxter, Scott Stevenson who took many beautiful photos for me, Rianna Burnham, Natalia Filip, Brittany Curtis, Colten Platzner, Dave Elia, Mitch Rivest, Heather Coleman, Alisa Preston who certified me as a scientific diver, Chris Russell, Janno Malo, Jackson Chu, Nairn Albrecht, Greg Nuttall, Iain Macauley, Erin Herder, and Evgeny Vasilchenko. The Ogden Point Dive Centre provided free air to myself and volunteers while diving for the project, making this endeavour affordable.

To my volunteers who spent hours in a stinky lab assisting me with sorting algae, I do not know what possessed you to agree to helping me but, Thank You. Volunteers include Jacob Earnshaw, Kyle Artelle, Michael Guindon, Andrew Sheriff, Allison Craig, Victoria Wyllie de Echeverria, Shin Shiga, Andra Forney, Ashley Park, Graham Powell, Erin Herder, Rachele Ricketts, Gillian Harvey, Caitlin Currey, Alan Roberts, Daniel Laird, Talia Christou, and Steve. I am very grateful to Dr. Sandra Lindstrom and Dr. Patrick Martone for their patience in assisting me in identifying the beautifully diverse algae of Victoria, BC.

Additional lab volunteers who provided a positive atmosphere for which I am grateful include: Misha Warbanski, Francine Beaujot, Frances Ankeman, Matt Hopkins, Nicole Medos, and Jessica Cloutier. I'd like to thank the Aquatic Facility at the University of Victoria for allowing me to use their facilities. To Brian Ringwood, Amy, and Ian, thank you for all of your assistance and advice at the facility.

Finally I would like to thank those people who provided me with emotional support and guidance in my project. To Ashley Park, thank you for the countless times that you provided me with advice and positive reinforcement. To Nancy Shackleford, your support, statistical and writing advice, and positive attitude helped me get through the last stage of this project. To Jennifer Sauter, thank you for your motivation, support, and for being a wonderful thesis buddy. I could not have done this without you. Words cannot express my gratitude for the support that I received from Michael Blazecka. Mike assisted me throughout the entire duration of the project. He was a dive buddy, a tech assistant, a lab assistant, an editor, he built the suction samplers, and always provided support when I needed it. From the bottom of my heart, thank you to all of these people who made this project possible.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Degradation of Marine Ecosystems

Diversity of coastal marine systems is being threatened due to anthropogenic activities causing disturbance, degradation, and stress to marine communities (Halpern et al. 2007, Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007, Waycott et al. 2009). As human activity along coastlines increase, degradation and destruction of coastal marine ecosystems around the globe will increase at an alarming rate (Halpern et al. 2008). Nineteen percent of the world's coral reefs have been destroyed (Wilkinson 2008), mangroves are being lost at a rate of 1-2% a year (Alongi 2002), and 29% of the global areal extent of seagrasses have been lost (Waycott et al. 2009). Pollution and excess nutrients from run-off, alterations to the natural coastline, and industrial activities all negatively impact coastal marine communities and diversity (Deysher et al. 2002, Bulleri et al. 2005, Gorman et al. 2009).

In an effort to mitigate the degradation and destruction of coastal marine ecosystems, artificial reefs have been used in restoration and enhancement projects (Deysher et al. 2002, Al-Horani and Khalaf 2013, Ngai et al. 2013). Artificial reefs have been successful at offsetting altered, damaged, or destroyed marine habitat by providing structural complexity in areas that experience low levels of negative anthropogenic stressors (Ngai et al. 2013). Their use is especially appropriate when they can be deployed within the same area in which structural complexity in the ecosystem has been reduced due to alterations in the coastline such as seawalls (Bulleri and Chapman 2004, Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006a, Chapman and Blockley 2009). In particular, artificial reef units called Reef Balls are claimed to be complex and rugose structures that are successful at supporting a diversity of marine life in marine ecosystems all over the world (www.reefball.org). In addition to complexity, Reef Balls have a sufficiently large surface area that is able to support higher trophic level organisms such as fish and crabs (Sherman et al. 2002). Reef Balls appear to be quite successful at replicating natural substrate and supporting diverse marine communities (Sherman et al. 2002, Koenig et al. 2005).

In restoration, one of the main goals is to return biodiversity to an area (Sherman et al. 2002, Hughes et al. 2005, Campbell et al. 2014). As anthropogenic activities continue to increase, restoring biodiversity to coastal marine ecosystems will become vital (Hughes et al. 2005). As artificial reefs are the main method of restoring diversity to a degraded area, it is important to know the mechanisms that drive marine community assembly and diversity on those reefs.

1.2 Mechanisms driving community assembly in marine ecosystems

Marine communities are shaped by deterministic mechanisms as well as unpredictable mechanisms that arise from stochastic processes (Bonsdorff and Pearson 1999, Siegel et al. 2008). Stochastic processes affecting the initial stages of community assembly include immigration/dispersal and colonization, which, in turn play a role in priority effects (Kendrick and Walker 1991, Benedetti-Cecchi 2000, Cifuentes et al. 2010). Variation in these processes leads to changes in community assembly and structure (Reed et al. 1988, Benedetti-Cecchi 2000, Cifuentes et al. 2010). Deterministic abiotic processes, such as environmental gradients, competition, and predation, also govern community assembly (Stephenson and Stephenson 1949, Bonsdorff and Pearson 1999, Fabricius et al. 2005). Competition for space and herbivory can play important roles in structuring marine communities (Kastendiek 1982, Lubchenco 1982, Breitburg 1984). Changes in competition and grazing pressures result in changes in species abundances and presence in many marine ecosystems (Kastendiek 1982, Lubchenco 1982, Breitburg 1984). Environmental gradients determine the spatial patterns in which competition and grazing occur. As environmental conditions change over an area, community composition changes as each species has a niche that governs the environmental conditions in which they are able to survive (Johansson and Snoeijs 2002). These gradients not only influence changes in community composition, and competition and grazing pressures, but also beta diversity (Eriksson et al. 2006).

Environmental gradients, such as depth, light, water flow, nutrients, and salinity, shape biotic community patterns in marine ecosystems (Sebens 1984, Vadas and Steneck 1988, Bonsdorff and Pearson 1999, Fabricius et al. 2005). One of the most influential gradient in subtidal communities is depth, which is associated with light (Bourget et al. 1994). The attenuation of light through the water column creates zonations in light-dependant organisms which in turn influences community assemblage patterns of other organisms (Friedlander and Parrish 1998, Ruitton et al. 2000, Malcolm et al. 2011).

Environmental gradients and stochastic processes impact marine communities at both large and small spatial scales (Bonsdorff and Pearson 1999, Siegel et al. 2008, Jacobucci et al. 2010, Gaylord et al. 2012). Most restoration efforts occur at relatively small spatial scales – within hundreds of metres (Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006a, Chapman and Blockley 2009, Toft et al. 2013). Thus, it is important to understand the magnitude of impact that small variations in environmental gradients have on community assembly at small spatial scales.

When embarking upon restoration in which artificial habitat is added to an area, understanding community assembly patterns of foundational species will provide insight to community assembly patterns at higher trophic levels (Edgar et al. 2004, Ellison et al. 2005). Macroalgae are commonly observed as foundational species, thus, this study focuses on subtidal macroalgae that grew on an artificial reef.

1.3 Environmental Gradients and Abiotic Factors Affecting Algal Communities in Subtidal Marine Ecosystems

Abiotic factors that affect subtidal algae distribution and abundance within communities include salinity (Druehl 1967), nutrients (Teichberg et al. 2010), light (Connell 2005), depth (Hop et al. 2012), sedimentation (Shepherd et al. 2009), water flow (Ferrier and Carpenter 2009), and distance from a seed source (Reed et al. 1988). Light, depth, water flow, and sedimentation, can vary at small spatial scales which alters algal community composition and diversity (Reed and Foster 1984, Eckman et al. 1989, Schiel et al. 1995, Airoldi and Cinelli 1997, Ferrier and Carpenter 2009).

Light, which is associated with depth, is one of the main environmental gradients shaping algal communities (Vadas and Steneck 1988). Attenuation of wave length spectrum and intensity through the water column results in a gradation of algal communities across depths (Markager and Sand-jensen 1992, Schiel et al. 1995). Vadas and Steneck (1988) observed a concomitant gradation in functional groups in a temperate subtidal marine system in which leathery macrophytes occupied the more shallow depths, foliose red algae at mid depths, and crustose algae occupied the deepest depths. Rarer functional groups were also dispersed at varying depths but the physically dominant macroalgae defined these zones (Vadas and Steneck 1988).

In the marine environment, water flow experienced by subtidal macroalgae can arise from tidal currents, wind-driven oscillatory flow, upwelling/downwelling water movement, density fronts, eddies, internal waves, storms, and turbulent mixing (Mann and Lazier 1991, Hurd 2000, Garland et al. 2002, Gaylord et al. 2012). These processes act at both large and small spatial scales, influencing the dispersal and growth of macroalgae (Mann and Lazier 1991, Hurd 2000, Garland et al. 2002, Gaylord et al. 2012). To maintain simplicity, hereafter, these processes will be referred to as "water flow". Water flow, often correlated with sedimentation, also influences algal community composition (Balata et al. 2007, Hansen and Reidenbach 2012). While not as influential as light, water flow does affect spore dispersal and settlement (Gaylord et al. 2006) and sedimentation (Hansen and Reidenbach 2012), and thus the dominance of sediment tolerant algal functional groups (Balata et al. 2007). Slow water velocities at the site of colonization will enhance spore settlement but it also enhances sedimentation which can suffocate spores and mature plants alike (Airoldi and Cinelli 1997, Steneck et al. 1997, Chapman and Fletcher 2002). Filamentous algae are superior in withstanding such effects compared to blade, ribbon, or encrusting forms. As a result, filamentous algae tend to dominate substrates with greater amounts of sedimentation resulting in a decrease in algal diversity (Airoldi 1998, 2003, Irving and Connell 2002b, Balata et al. 2007). High water velocities increase spore dispersal and inhibits sediment from settling and

covering algae, but it reduces the probability of spores settling (Norton and Fetter 1981, Gaylord et al. 2006, Hansen and Reidenbach 2012).

Hydrodynamics influence the distance at which algal spores are carried from a propagule source to an available patch of habitat (Gaylord et al. 2012). Algal spores have demonstrated both long and short distance dispersal capabilities resulting in variable spatial patterns associated with distance from a propagule source (Kendrick and Walker 1991, Arrontes 2005, Buchanan and Zuccarello 2012). Spores of some algal species, such as brown kelps, tend to disperse over short ranges - on the scale of metres (Kendrick and Walker 1991). This can lead to localized populations of brown kelps within an area (Schiel 1985). Long dispersal ranges, on the order of hundreds of kilometres, have also been documented for spores of many algal specimens, including some brown kelps. (Benedetti-Cecchi et al. 2001, Buchanan and Zuccarello 2012).

Determining the level of influence that environmental gradients have on subtidal macroalgal assemblages can be challenging due to heterogeneity in the natural substrate of subtidal ecosystems (Toohey et al. 2007, Zawada et al. 2010). Small changes in rugosity, shape, or area of the substrate can also significantly alter community composition (Borowitzka et al. 1990, Toohey et al. 2007, Miller and Etter 2008). Artificial reefs provide a potential solution. By deploying replicable, realistic habitats in which size, shape, and rugosity are consistent, direct comparisons of algal communities generated across the putatively seminal environmental gradients can be made (Rule and Smith 2007). Tiles or plates are the most frequently used artificial substrate in subtidal algae community studies (Dudgeon and Petraitis 2001, Wahl 2001, Coleman 2003, Korpinen et al. 2007). While minimally satisfying the role of "substrate" these physical

interventions are highly artificial (two dimensional smooth substrate of varying chemical composition) and may unintentionally facilitate or retard both plant and animal life on and around the plates. "Reef Balls" in contrast are purpose-built and designed to simulate natural hard structure however have only been rarely used in subtidal studies to date (Oritz-Prosper et al. 2001, Sherman et al. 2002, Jardeweski and de Almeida 2004, Koenig et al. 2005).

In this study Reef Balls were deployed in a physically homogenous environment parallel to a putatively significant propagule source. In so doing, this study aims to determine the relationship between small changes in environmental gradients such as light, depth, water flow, and distance to a propagule source and subtidal macroalgal community assembly and diversity. Effects of environmental gradients on genera diversity, functional groups, and community composition were explored.

Chapter 2 Methods

2.1 Overview

Environmental gradients influence marine algal community assembly and diversity (Vadas and Steneck 1988). Environmental gradients that play a dominant role in subtidal macroalgal community assemblies across small spatial scales include depth, light, water flow, and distance from a seed source (Reed et al. 1988, Connell 2005, Shepherd et al. 2009, Ferrier and Carpenter 2009, Hop et al. 2012). These abiotic factors influence community composition, diversity, and functional group composition (Ferrier and Carpenter 2009, Hop et al. 2012). In this study the relationship between macroalgal communities and depth, light, water flow, and distance from a seed source were measured. Environmental factors were measured at each sample site and the algal community was destructively sampled.

2.1 Study Site

The study was conducted in marine waters east of the Ogden Point Breakwater (48°24'47.64"N, 123°23'11.64"W) in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Location of sampling site at the Ogden Point Breakwater, Victoria, BC. The rectangle outlines the sampling area. Yellow circles represent Reef Balls.

The breakwater, completed in 1917, extends 800m from shore and is constructed of concrete and granite and gravel ballast. The breakwater is located within a marine sanctuary, however angling is still permitted (Biffard, personal communication). The blocks and boulders that make up the breakwater support a marine community indicative of a late successional stage. In the subtidal area, blocks are dominated by encrusting algae and a bull kelp canopy, which is characteristic of a mature kelp forest ecosystems (Foster 1975). Scattered among the encrusting algae, erect soft bodied algae and sessile invertebrates such as anemones, tunicates, sponges, and tubeworms have also managed to acquire space on the substrate (personal observation). The kelp canopy and the complex structure created by the blocks and boulders that make up the breakwater, support a relatively diverse marine community including vagile organisms such as crabs, fish, nudibranchs, sea stars etc. (personal observation). During the spring and summer seasons, an eel grass bed, located east of the breakwater, and the kelp canopy act as nurseries for many fish species including economically significant fish such as salmon and herring (personal observation).

The study area, located 15m east from the bottom of the breakwater, measured 120m x 100m with the long axis running parallel to the breakwater. The northeast corner of the study area is the shallowest at approximately 10m deep, while the southwest corner is the deepest at approximately 18m deep. Depth within the study area increases moving south and west from the northeast corner. The study site substratum is relatively flat, silty, with macroalgae between a 10m and 13m depth.

2.2 Reef Balls

Reef Balls (http://www.reef ball.org/index.html) are concrete, dome shaped structures of varying sizes designed to rehabilitate and restore damaged marine habitats. The concrete pH is similar to that of seawater, reducing the alkaline effects of concrete in seawater. Reef Balls were used for this study because the design, material, and structure of Reef Balls replicate natural rocky reefs found in temperate marine systems, making them effective marine habitat for this study area (http://www.reef ball.org/index.html). In addition, unlike natural rocks or boulders, each Reef Ball was constructed to have the same structure, form and rugosity. This results in rugosity and structure remaining constant across all replicates, allowing for direct observations of algal communities responding to environmental gradients.

Reef Balls used in this study are 0.91m in diameter, 0.76m high and weigh approximately 170kg (Figure 2). The wall is twelve cm thick and each ball has six or seven holes and a hollow core.



Figure 2. Reef Ball (<u>http://www.reefball.org/</u>)

2.3 Sampling Design

From June 27th 2009 – June 30th 2009, 92 Reef Balls were deployed in the study area, east of the Ogden Point breakwater. A landing craft with a hydraulic davit was used to transport and deploy the Reef Balls (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Photo of Reef Ball deployment method. A hydraulic davit on a landing craft was used to lower Reef Balls to ocean floor.

The hydraulic davit allowed for each Reef Ball to be lowered down to the substrate, ensuring that they would remain fully intact. During deployment, a block design layout was attempted by attaching the landing craft to a line that was anchored at both ends, and that ran perpendicular to the breakwater. Reef Balls were to be deployed along that line at equally spaced distances and on subsequent lines that ran parallel to the original anchored line. However, due to high winds and strong currents during each deployment day, the landing craft dragged the line and anchors to which it was attached and did not deploy Reef Balls in a straight line. As a result Reef Balls were deployed in a haphazard manner (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Aerial perspective of the Reef Balls. Orange circles are sampled Reef Balls, white circles are non-sampled Reef Balls.

Due to Reef Balls being deployed in a haphazard manner instead of a block design, there were unequal replicates at different depths, distances to breakwater and other Reef Balls and potentially different water velocities. This may have reduced the strength of detecting signals among the environmental variables due to lower replicate numbers at certain depths, distances from the breakwater and Reef Balls, and water velocities (Krebs 1998). A high number of replicates are especially needed for macroalgae communities as they tend to be very spatially heterogeneous (Coleman 2002).

Thirty of 92 Reef Balls were sampled in this study (n=30) (Figure 4). The Reef Balls that were chosen to include in the study possessed the following criteria: a) Positioned upright b) were not part of the large cluster of 36 Reef Balls c) south facing side was exposed d) was located at a depth no greater than 18.3m. Criteria a) and c) were chosen in order to maintain consistency in the light environment across sample areas. Reef Balls that were not sitting upright had different inclinations than those that were upright. Different inclinations of substrate lead to differences in light intensity, as does differences in the direction in which the substrate faces (Brakel 1979). Criteria b) was chosen because a Reef Ball within a large cluster of Reef Balls may experience higher trophic level interactions due to the greater total surface area supporting higher trophic level species compared to Reef Balls located in isolation or in smaller groups which would have smaller total surface areas (Paddack et al. 2006). Criteria d) was chosen in order to conduct subtidal research within the limits outlined by the University of Victoria Guide for scientific diving safety.

A circular quadrat with a 30cm diameter was placed on each sampled Reef Ball. Circular quadrats were used to reduce edge effects (Krebs 1998) and to maximize the sample area which was positioned between the holes of the walls on the Reef Ball. Circular quadrats were fastened to the upper hemisphere of the south side of each Reef Ball using cable ties (Figure 5). Quadrats were only fastened to the upper half of the Reef ball to ensure light intensities were not affected by Reef Ball shape. To identify Reef Balls, each was numbered using a plastic tag and cable tie (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Photo of a circular quadrat located on the upper hemisphere of a Reef Ball. Circular quadrats are fastened to the Reef Balls using cable ties. Photo credit: Michael Blazecka

2.4 Measured Environmental Gradients

Measurements of environmental gradients occurred between August 2011 and September 2011.

2.4.1 Depth and distance

Depth of each Reef Ball was measured using an Oceanic Veo II Diving computer. Distances between Reef Balls and the breakwater were measured as the breakwater is most likely the largest source of propagules within the area. Distance between Reef Balls were measured because aside from the main source of propagules generated from the breakwater, Reef Balls that are a short distance away from one another are the most likely source of propagules. Distance was measured from the closest edge of the top hole of the focal Reef Ball to the closest edge of the top hole of the second Reef Ball using a 100m measuring tape. Bearings from one Reef Ball to the next closest Reef Ball were measured *in situ* using a Suunto compass. A GPS coordinate was taken from the surface of the water directly above a Reef Ball using a Lowrance iFinder Expedition c(+) GPS unit. GPS coordinates for the remaining Reef Balls were calculated using trigonometric equations in Microsoft Excel 2007 using the distances and bearings measured from the Reef Ball with the measured GPS coordinate. Reef Balls were mapped in Arc GIS 10 (Figure 4).

2.4.2 Measuring Water Flow

Average water flow was measured by using modified clod cards (Thompson and Glenn 1994), or "dissolution domes". Dissolution domes, often made out of calcium sulfate, provide a relative measure of water velocity based on the proportion of the dome that dissolves in flowing water over a period of time (Thompson and Glenn 1994). The advantage of using dissolution domes over current metres is that they provide an inexpensive method of measuring average water velocity at many sample sites at the same time (Thompson and Glenn 1994, Perkol-Finkel et al. 2006b).

Dissolution domes for this study were made by pouring *Plaster of Paris* into the split half of a table tennis ball. Prior to curing, a paper clip was placed into the mold so that half of the paper clip emerged from the base of the dome. The paper clip provided a means of fastening the dome to a reef ball using a cable tie.

Water flow was measured at each Reef Ball during three 24 hour periods. Prior to deploying the dissolution domes, each dissolution dome was dried at 60°C for 24 hours and then weighed to obtain a dry weight (Howerton and Boyd 1992). Three replicates were deployed at each Reef Ball on each of the three sampling days. Dissolution domes were deployed on August 20th, August 27th, and September 17th and were retrieved 24 hours later. These dates were chosen to obtain measurements from tidal cycles with a high, medium and low average current. While hydrodynamic processes may vary throughout the year, such as an increase in surge due to winter storms, water flow was only measured during late summer due to logistics of collecting the data. In order to deploy and retrieve dissolution domes, a total of five experienced and capable volunteer divers are required for each dive. The ability to find five experienced divers that are available on particular days and times is a challenge. In addition, the ability to dive during the winter decreases as winter storms decrease accessibility to the study site. Collecting water flow measurements on additional days throughout the year may have provided additional insight on the effects of flow on macroalgae communities. However, collections were limited to three days during late summer due to the logistics of organizing volunteers as well as the decrease in accessibility to the study site during fall and winter months when the frequency of storms increases.

When dissolution domes were collected from Reef Balls, effort was made to minimize loss of material when transferring them to Ziploc[®] bags underwater. After retrieving the dissolution domes from the sample sites, they were placed in a drying oven for 24 hours at 60°C and then weighed to obtain a dry weight (Howerton and Boyd 1992, Thompson and Glenn 1994).

Six of the Reef Balls did not have domes affixed during the first sampling event which occurred during a tidal cycle with high average current. As a result, current was averaged over two sampling days only.

In an attempt to determine an average flow rate associated with weight loss, dissolution domes were calibrated in the lab following the procedures developed by Thompson and Glenn (1994). Experiments were carried out at the University of Victoria Aquatic Facility in a round, plastic tank with a 1.75m diameter and 61cm depth. The tank was filled with seawater to a depth of approximately 50 cm. The salinity of the seawater was the same as that found at the study site (30.5 ppm) and the water temperature was slightly lower in the tank (9.65 °C) compared to the water temperature at the study site (11 °C).

Dissolution domes were placed on a 1.02m long and 0.15cm thick Aluminum arm which was fastened to a stainless steel rod at its centre. The stainless steel rod was rotated at an average of 10 ± 0.79 rpm by a 24V electric gear motor. The motor was secured to a wooden plank which lay across the tank such that the arm was positioned in the centre of the tank (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Dissolution dome calibration experimental set-up.

Dissolution domes were placed 5cm, 10cm, 20cm, 30cm, 40cm, or 50cm away from the centre of the arm. During each of the six trials there were 12 domes on the arm, two replicates for each position as domes were placed on either side of the rod located at the centre of the arm. As a result, each velocity treatment was duplicated for each trial (Thompson and Glenn 1994). Velocity at which the domes traveled ranged from 0.05m/s to 0.6m/s depending on the position on the arm at which the dome was placed. This velocity range was estimated to be within the range of water velocity experienced at Ogden Point based on current measurements obtained from the closest current meter – Race Passage (http://www.tides.gc.ca/eng/data/table/2011/curr_ref/1200). Five trials were run with the arm rotating and one trial was run without rotation to obtain a

dissolution rate at 0m/s. There were ten replicates for each velocity. During test trials, the experiment was run for a 24 hour period. After 24 hours, it was found that the dissolution domes experiencing higher velocities had completely dissolved. This may have been due to higher velocities in the tank compared to within the field, or due to shorter curing times for the dissolution domes used in experimental trials compared to those used in the field. Shorter curing times may have caused the domes to be less dense than those used in the field and dissolve at a faster rate (Thompson and Glenn 1994). As the rotational speed of the motor was not able to be reduced, the time of the trials were reduced to 6 hours instead of 24 hours in order to measure the weight loss of domes before they completely dissolved. Generally, dissolution rates are non-linear as they are higher when domes have a greater surface area compared to when they have a smaller surface area due to dissolution (Thompson and Glenn 1994). As minimal dissolution occurred on the domes that were placed in the field, the change in surface area was also minimal and the correction factor for changes in surface area was not needed. Thus, weight loss that occurred on dissolution domes used in experimental trials was multiplied by four to determine weight loss over a 24 hour period. Prior to and after each trial, all dissolution domes were dried for 24 hours at 60°C and weighed. Weight loss values were plotted against average water velocity to determine the equation of the line used to predict the average velocity of water that flowed past the dissolution domes in the field (Thompson and Glenn 1994) (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Calculated total weight loss (g) of dissolution domes that would occur over a 24 hour period based on measured total weight loss of dissolution domes exposed to six different water velocities (m/s) for a 6 hour period. Circles represent the calculated weight loss that would occur over a 24 hour period for each dissolution dome exposed at each of the six different water velocities. There were ten replicates measured for each water velocity and thus ten circles at each water velocity experienced by the dissolution domes. The corrected water velocity was calculated by subtracting the velocity of the water moving in the same direction as the dissolution domes so as to obtain the true water velocity experienced by the domes (Thompson and Glenn 1994). The red line was obtained by conducting a linear regression between calculated weight loss (g) and water velocity of water at each sampled Reef Ball in the study sites based on the weight loss of the dissolution domes measured at at that site.

2.4.3 Measuring Light

Downwelling light was measured at the centre of each quadrat. Although care was taken to ensure that algae canopy was not interfering with light measurements, in some instances measurements were affected. Light was measured on three consecutive sunny days. Measurements were taken on August 25, 26, and 27 2011 between 11:00 and 14:00. Light was measured using a light metre designed for underwater photography (Sekonic Marine Metre II L-164B) as this was more economical than purchasing an underwater light metre that directly measures photon flux (Jimenez et al. 1987, Vail 1987). The photo light metre was set to ASA 100, DIN 21 and shutter speed 25 and the F-stop value was recorded. To measure downwelling light, the light sensor was pointed up, resulting in the face of the metre being pointed directly towards the substrate. This made taking readings very difficult to execute underwater. To increase the ease and efficiency of reading measurements, the light metre was mounted on a PVC arm that formed a 90° angle with a mirror mounted at the bend in the arm pointing toward the face of the metre (Figure 8). Measurements could then be read by looking down the arm, which ran parallel to the substrate, to the mirror which reflected the face of the metre.



Figure 8. Mounting system for the Sekonic Marine Metre II L-164B

To associate a luminous flux per unit area with each F-stop, the Sekonic Marine Metre II was calibrated with various light sources by conducting multiple tests with each light source and for each F-stop. The calibration value (C) was calculated for each F-stop for each light source. The calibration values were averaged for each light source and again averaged to give a final calibration value. Variances in the average calibration values amongst the light sources were used to determine the $\pm 1\%$ against the overall average. The light readings were taken on an accurate selenium based light meter (Luning and Dring 1979).

Lux was calculated using the following equation from ANSI/ISO 2720-1974:

$$Lux = \frac{[(Fstop)^2 * C]}{t * S}$$

C = Calibration value t = shutter speed S = ASA value

Once the calibration value was determined, F-stops recorded at each sample site were entered into the equation to obtain a Lux value.

2.5 Sampling the algae community

Underwater benthic sampling is often conducted by taking photographic samples (Airoldi 2000, Irving and Connell 2002b, Campana et al. 2009). The advantages of this method are that it increases the ease of sampling, the number of sites that can be sampled, and transfers processing time from underwater where there are physiological limits to the lab where time is unlimited (Preskitt et al. 2004). The disadvantage of photo sampling occurs when sampling a three dimensional community such as a kelp community. A photograph will capture the cover of the community at a particular point in time and may not be able to capture the entire community (Airoldi and Cinelli 1997). This presents a particular problem in the subtidal environment where algae are often in motion due to tidal or current action. A further disadvantage to the photo sampling method is that it is not possible to identify certain algae to a low taxonomic level (Preskitt et al. 2004). Many species require examination under a microscope for positive identification (Gabrielson et al. 2006). For these reasons, destructive sampling and measurement of biomass were chosen to represent subtidal algal communities. Destructive sampling

allowed for algae to be identified to a low taxonomic level, allowing for the investigation of the effects of environmental gradients on community composition and diversity.

2.5.1 Field Collection

Sampling colonized algae communities was conducted during the summer of 2011 (July 12 – July 31) using SCUBA. Within the affixed 30cm circular quadrats on the 30 experimental reef balls, the upper canopy was sampled by removing the algae, including its holdfast, using a knife. The algae was then placed in a Ziploc[©] bag. The lower canopy was collected by scraping the sample area using a knife and collecting the algae using a modified suction sampler (Miles and Whitlatch 1997). Each sample took between ten to fifteen minutes to sample depending on the coverage and composition of the sample. The diver would continue scraping the sample area until algae was no longer being removed from the substrate. One to three samples were collected per dive depending on the nature of the sample and site conditions. One to two dives were conducted each day depending on the timing of the tide cycles. Dives were conducted during slack tide to minimize loss of sample due to current and to follow safe dive procedures. Although these precautionary measures were taken, some algae were still lost during sampling due to water motion and low suction power of the sampler. In all cases the lost algae were small fragments that amounted to an estimated loss of less than 3% of the total biomass collected.

2.5.2 Suction Sampler
The suction sampler was based on the design of Miles and Whitlatch (1997), but modified to increase portability due to the travel required to arrive at the dive site – divers had to walk several hundred metres – and subsequently swim offshore to the sampling sites. Two modified suction samplers were fabricated, each with a 360GPH, 12V Bilge pump attached to a six centimetre diameter PVC tube. The PVC tube for one model was 41cm in length and the other 37cm in length (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Miles and Whitlatch (1997) modified suction sampler.

A mesh bag (mesh size = 2mm) was placed inside the PVC tube to collect algae that were sucked up by the sampler. A flexible hose 45 cm in length and 3.5 cm in diameter, was mounted on the top of the sampler and fastened to the PVC tube with latches. The latches allowed divers to remove the flexible hosing under water to retrieve and replace the mesh bag after a sample had been collected. The mesh bags containing the samples were transferred to plastic Ziploc[©] bags for transport to the lab for processing. Samples were placed in a cooler with seawater for transportation.

2.5.3 Biomass

Samples were brought to the lab within one hour of collection and sorted to genus. Algae were identified to genus using the key of Gabrielson et al. (2006). Algae were identified to genus because in order to identify some algae to the species level, reproductive structures were required to be present and intact. This was not the case for all individuals, therefore identification was limited to genus. Identifying algae to the genus level only results in a 5% decrease in the ability to distinguish different samples (Bates et al. 2007). Sorted algae were placed into pre-weighed aluminum trays, dried at 60°C for 24 hours, and then weighed (Brokovich et al. 2010).

2.6 Statistical Analysis

2.6.1 Effects of environmental gradients on diversity

Genera richness, Shannon entropy, and Simpson diversity number were determined for each sample using the R package vegan (Oksanen et al. 2013). Each diversity measure represents a different aspect of the community and each measure has drawbacks (Magurran 1988). Genera richness indicates the number of genera found in a community, and Shannon entropy and Simpson diversity number are indices that combine richness and abundance (Magurran 1988). Shannon entropy is sensitive to rare species and Simpson diversity number is more influenced by dominant species (Magurran 1988). Algal communities in this study are characterized by several dominant genera and many rare genera, thus it is important to determine whether environmental gradients have an effect on rare or dominant genera. By including all three diversity indices in the analysis, the effects of environmental gradients on richness of dominant and rare genera can be determined.

Shannon Entropy is defined as:

$$H' = -\sum_{i=1}^{R} p_i \ln p_i$$

Where p_i is the proportion of algae abundance belonging to the *i*th genera and *R* is genera richness

the Simpson diversity number is:

$$\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^{R} p_i^2$$

Genera richness, Shannon entropy, and Simpson diversity number were each analyzed using multiple linear regression. The explanatory variables were the same for each of the three models: water flow, light, depth, distance to breakwater, and distance to the closest Reef Ball. Backward model selection was conducted for each multiple regression test using Akaike information criteria (AIC) to determine the most parsimonious model explaining the diversity indices (Crawley 2007). 2.6.2 Effects of environmental gradients on algal community composition

To determine if depth, light, water flow, distance to breakwater, and distance to the closest Reef Ball had a significant effect on the presence and biomass of algae genera collected from 30 replicate algae communities a redundancy analysis (RDA) was conducted. RDA was chosen because unlike unconstrained methods such as PCA, that are more descriptive in nature, it determines whether explanatory variables have a significant effect on multivariate response data (Borcard et al. 2011). RDA was chosen instead of other constrained ordination methods such as Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) because rare species in the data would have a biased influence by using CCA (Borcard et al. 2011). In addition, explained variation in CCA is inflated and there is no simple method to address this problem (Borcard et al. 2011).

RDA is a method that regresses multivariate responses to explanatory variables and then runs a principal component analysis (PCA) on the fitted values obtained by the multiple linear regression (Borcard et al. 2011). RDA determines the degree to which variation in response variables is explained by explanatory variables (Borcard et al. 2011).

RDA tests were followed by a permutation test run in the R package vegan to determine if the models were significant (Oksanen et al. 2013). Permutation tests are ideal when testing for significance in ecological data because ecological data often has non-normal distributions that cannot be tested using parametric tests (Borcard et al. 2011).

Effects of abiotic factors on the presence and biomass of algal functional groups was also measured using an RDA. Functional groups included filamentous, foliose, corticated terete, and leathery (Appendix II, Table 5) (Steneck and Dethier 1994a, Bates and DeWreede 2007). These functional groups, developed by Steneck and Dethier (1994), are based on morphological, anatomical, and as a result life-history traits that are important in responding to disturbance and productivity regimes. For example, kelps belong to the leathery functional group, which is characterized as algae that are structurally more complex, larger in size and resistant to low levels of disturbance (Steneck and Dethier 1994a). Specimens that are found within this group are better able to monopolize light due to their greater size and longer life span compared to specimens found in other functional groups (Carpenter 1990, Steneck and Dethier 1994a). Algal specimens placed in the corticated terete functional group are structurally less complex, smaller in size, and have shorter life spans compared to specimens found in the leathery functional group (Steneck and Dethier 1994a). Corticated terete specimens are also better able to monopolize light compared to other functional groups, but are outcompeted by leathery macrophytes (Steneck and Dethier 1994a). Foliose specimens are singlecelled layer algae, such as Ulva, and filamentous algae are single-celled organisms in which cells are arranged into a single filament (Steneck and Dethier 1994a). Foliose and filamentous algal species are fast-growing, opportunistic species that tend to dominate early successional stages (Steneck and Dethier 1994a, Lotze and Schramm 2000). Due to their greater surface area, foliose specimens are better able to compete for light compared to filamentous algae (Steneck and Dethier 1994a). By organizing algae into these functional groups, factors that affect productivity, such as depth and light, and disturbance regimes, such as sediment scouring associated with different water flows, are

expected to affect the abundance and presence of functional groups (Vadas and Steneck 1988, Ferrier and Carpenter 2009).

Prior to the analysis, a Kendall Tau correlation test was run to determine whether any of the environmental variables were significantly correlated with one another. Distance to breakwater (p < 0.0005) and light (p < 0.005) were significantly correlated to depth, and thus were removed from the subsequent RDA analyses to prevent over-fitting the model. Depth was retained in the analysis rather than the other correlated abiotic factors because it is an important environmental gradient that shapes subtidal algal communities and it was the most precise measurement between depth and light (Vadas and Steneck 1988).

A Hellinger transformation was performed on genera and functional group biomass in order to reduce the influence of algae with high biomass (Borcard et al. 2011).

2.6.3 Determining whether measured abiotic factors have a significant effect in shaping subtidal algal communities

Forward selection of explanatory variables was conducted in which permutation tests are run on the F-statistic of each variable in order to identify the combination of variables yielding maximum explanatory power. Forward selection was chosen so that only variables that significantly explained variance in the model were included (Borcard et al. 2011). The most significant explanatory variable was selected to include in the model. In the case of a tie, the variable with the lowest Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) value was selected to include in the model. Additional variables were added to the model if their partial contribution to the model was significant. A Kendall's *W* coefficient of concordance was used to determine if algae formed significant genera associations that may be correlated with environmental gradients. This test incorporates a k-means partitioning which groups observations into clusters so that each observation will belong to the group with the most similar mean. The method groups observations so that the total error sums of squares (TESS) are minimized within each group. Permutation tests are then run in order to determine the significance of each group and to determine which genera are significantly associated with their group. Due to k-means partitioning being a linear calculation, a Hellinger transformation was performed on the data in order to deal with the abundance of zeros (Borcard et al. 2011). Therefore, evidence of significant clusters or algal associations would indicate some assembly rules and discount random colonization.

Spatial correlations may also be indicators of non-random colonization (Keough 1983, Kendrick and Walker 1991, Larsson and Jonsson 2006). To determine if there were any spatial correlations among algae communities a principle coordinates of neighbour matrices (PCNM) analysis was conducted using the PCNM package in R (Borcard et al. 2011). A PCNM enables modeling of non-linear trends in ecological data (Borcard et al. 2011). The analysis involves running a principle coordinate analysis (PCoA) on a distance matrix, followed by an RDA in order to detect significant spatial correlations. The method constructs a distance matrix based on the shortest distance between sites. A PCoA is then run on the distance matrix in order to reduce the number of dimensions and to obtain eigenvectors that represent the majority of the variation in the distance data. An RDA is then run using only the significant eigenvectors as spatial

Chapter 3 Results

A total of 36 different genera were identified across the 30 sampled Reef Balls (Appendix II, Table 5). Genera richness (indicated as richness from here on end) per reef ball ranged from 7 to 22. The average richness across Reef Balls was 15.2 ± 3.59 genera. Shannon Entropy values ranged from 0.0785 to 2.07, Simpson Diversity number from 1.02 to 5.70, (Appendix II, **Table 6**).

3.1 Environmental Gradients and Diversity

To determine if richness, Shannon Entropy and Simpson Diversity Number changed across environmental gradients (Appendix II, Table 7), a multiple regression for each response variable was executed. Each model was reduced using AIC analysis to determine the most parsimonious model (Table 1, Table 2, Table 3)

Table 1. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with environmental variables as explantory variables and richness as response variable. Full model: richness ~ flow + depth + light + distance to reef ball + distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom

	Abiotic factor removed	Deviance		Residual	
Step	from model	Residuals	Df	Deviance	AIC
1			24	286.0439	79.64844
2	Flow	0.145733	25	286.1896	77.66372
3	Depth	0.98414	26	287.1738	75.7667
4	Distance to Reef Ball	2.212656	27	289.3864	73.99696

Table 2. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with environmental variables as explantory variables and Shannon Entropy as response variable. Full model: shannon entropy \sim flow + depth + light + distance to reef ball + distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom

				D ! . ! 1	
		Deviance		Residual	
Step	Abiotic factor removed	Residuals	Df	Deviance	AIC
1			24	5.486231	-38.9687
2	Light	0.02727	25	5.513502	-40.8199
3	Flow	0.147664	26	5.661166	-42.027
4	Distance to Reef Ball	0.247366	27	5.908532	-42.744

Table 3. Results from AIC backward model selection on multiple linear regression with environmental variables as explantory variables and Simpson Diversity Number as response variable. Full model: simpson diversity number ~ flow + depth + light + distance to reef ball + distance to breakwater. Df = degrees of freedom

distance to reer ban + distance to breakwater. Dr = degrees or needom					
		Deviance		Residual	
Step	Abiotic factor removed	Residuals	Df	Deviance	AIC
1			24	4.754137	-43.2655
2	Light	0.0101	25	4.764238	-45.2018
3	Flow	0.112139	26	4.876377	-46.5039

A multiple linear regression was conducted with the most parsimonious model obtained from AIC for each response variable: richness, Shannon Entropy, Simpson Diversity Number. Distance to the breakwater had a significant effect on richness (p = 0.00996) and the model was significant (p = 0.03274), but light was insignificant (p = 0.09804). Depth and distance to the breakwater were included in the model explaining Shannon Entropy but were insignificant (depth: p = 0.05722, distance to breakwater: p = 0.05875) and the overall model was insignificant (p = 0.1098). None of the environmental variables in the reduced model had a significant effect on Simpson Diversity Number (Depth: p = 0.1706, Distance to Reef Ball: p = 0.1644, Distance to breakwater: p = 0.0941).

3.2 Environmental Gradients and Community Composition

Redundancy analysis determines the combination of environmental variables that explain the variation in community composition (Borcard et al. 2011). The RDA revealed that the measured environmental factors explained a small proportion of variance in algal communities (22%). In an attempt to reduce the variance of residuals in the model, rare genera (total biomass < 0.020g or occurring at < 3 sites) were removed from the data (Poos and Jackson 2012). A total of 13 genera were removed leaving 23 genera that were used in a second RDA test (Table 5). Proportion of variance in algal communities explained by environmental variables did not critically increase with the removal of rare genera (23%). As a result, rare genera were retained in the data for the remainder of tests.

Biplot scores for constrained variables indicate that depth had the greatest effect on algae communities, followed by flow, and distance to the nearest reef ball (Table 4).

Table 4. Scores for genera that were most affected by extreme values of explanatory variables for each constrained axis (RDA) and the first two unconstrained axes (PC). Genera scores represent the coordinates for the vectors representing genera in the triplot. Biplot scores of explanatory variables are located below genera scores. Biplot scores represent coordinates of the explanatory variable vectors in the triplot.

	RDA1	RDA2	RDA3	PC1	PC2
Agarum	- 0.6164283	0.0248212	0.0329069	-0.3412080	0.5204491
Callophyllis	-0.1466346	-0.1803305	-0.0733324	-0.2118387	-0.2944889
Pterosiphonia	0.1557874	0.0165664	-0.0217313	-0.0722760	-0.0460207
Rhodoptilum	0.0683381	0.1338608	0.0124173	-0.2238514	-0.5029212
Saccharina	-0.0020522	0.0652297	-0.0295207	-0.0267796	-0.0343857
Ulva	0.3670149	-0.1838597	0.0556066	-0.1568278	0.2352967
Weeksia	0.2870722	0.1361335	-0.0389794	0.9301753	0.0142089

Biplot scores

Depth	-0.9541	-0.2894	-0.07661
Flow	0.62913	-0.6999	-0.33817
Distance to reef	0.3042	0.5050	-0.80776

Depth was negatively correlated with water flow, and distance to the nearest Reef Ball along RDA1 (Figure 10). *Agarum* and *Callophyllis* were positively correlated with depth and *Weeksia*, *Rhodptilum*, *Ulva* and *Pterosiphonia* were negatively correlated with depth. *Callophyllis* was negatively correlated with distance to the nearest reef ball while *Rhodoptilum*, *Weeksia*, *Saccharina*, and *Pterosiphonia* were positively correlated. *Ulva* was positively correlated to water flow. The remaining algae genera were concentrated around the centre of the plot suggesting little effect of the measured explanatory variables. *Agarum*, and *Callophyllis* were positively correlated to one another and negatively correlated to *Ulva*, *Pterosiphonia*, *Weeksia*, *Saccharina*, and *Rhodoptilum* which were positively correlated to one another.



Figure 10. RDA triplot of Hellinger transformed algae genera biomass and Reef Balls constrained by environmental variables. The bottom and left hand scales are the standard deviations for standardized algae genera biomass and the right hand and top scales are standard deviations of standardized explanatory variables. Green numbers represent Reef Ball number, their location can be found in Appendix I Figure 13. Arrow length indicates the relative influence of environmental variables (blue) and the relative abundance of algae genera (red). The angle between a vector representing algae and a vector representing abiotic factors, between two algae vectors, or between two abiotic factor vectors, is a reflection of their correlation. The first two axes of the RDA triplot represent 19% and 3% of the variation in algae genera. The corresponding names of algae genera represented by codes in the plot can be found in Appendix II, Table 5.

To determine if environmental variables had a significant effect on algae community composition a global permutation test was run. The test indicated that environmental variables had a significant effect (p=0.003) on algal communities. A test of canonical axes indicate that depth, the most influential variable in RDA1, significantly explained algal communities (p=0.001).

In forward selection, when regressing each explanatory variable to the algae genera biomass, the test revealed that depth was the most significant explanatory variable (p=0.001), followed by flow (p=0.042). The first step of the forward selection test revealed that none of the remaining variables – flow, and distance to closest Reef Ball – made a significant partial contribution to the variation in the response data (flow: p= 0.226, distance to closest Reef Ball: p= 0.892). This suggests that depth is the sole explanatory variable that has a significant effect on algae community composition in this study.

Agarum, Weeksia, Ulva, or a combination of the three genera, formed an upper canopy in 21 of the 30 samples. To determine whether the three genera were driving the results in the RDA, they were removed from the data set and an RDA was run with algae genera found only in the lower canopy. The results were similar to the results obtained by the RDA run with both upper and lower canopy genera as the response variable. Explanatory variables explained a small proportion of the variation in understory algal communities (17%). Biplot scores for constraining variables indicated that depth (-0.9641) also had the greatest effect on lower canopy algae communities, followed by distance to the nearest reef ball (0.3874), and flow (0.1126). *Callophyllis* was again positively correlated with depth while *Pterosiphonia* was negatively correlated (Figure

11). *Rhodoptilum* and *Callithamnion* were positively correlated with distance to the closest Reef Ball and *Pterosiphonia* was positively correlated with water flow (Figure 11). The relationships among the environmental variables were similar to those found in the first RDA (Figure 10, Figure 11).



Figure 11. RDA triplot of algae genera found only in the lower canopy constrained by environmental variables. Algae genera biomass was Hellinger transformed prior to the RDA. The bottom and left hand scales are the standard deviations for standardized algae genera biomass and the right hand and top scales are standard deviations of standardized explanatory variables. Green numbers represent Reef Ball number, their location can be found in Appendix I Figure 13. Arrow length indicates the relative influence of environmental variables (blue) and the relative abundance of algae genera (red). The

angle between a vector representing algae and a vector representing abiotic factors, between two algae vectors, or between two abiotic factor vectors, is a reflection of their correlation. The first two axes of the RDA triplot represent 14% and 5% of the variation in algae genera. The corresponding names of algae genera represented by codes in the plot can be found in Appendix II, Table 5.

A global permutation test indicated that environmental variables had a significant effect on lower canopy algae genera (p= 0.027). A forward selection test indicated that depth, again, was the most significant explanatory variable (p= 0.009) and the only significant variable in the model (flow: p= 0.317, distance to closest Reef Ball: p= 0.382).

An RDA was run with algal functional groups as the response variable because effects of environmental gradients are often seen at coarser taxonomic resolutions (Ferrier and Carpenter 2009). The redundancy analysis run on functional groups again revealed that unmeasured variables represented a greater proportion (83%) of the variance in algal communities compared to measured environmental variables (17%). Biplot scores for environmental variables indicated that flow (0.8733) had the greatest effect on functional groups, followed by depth (-0.7670) and distance to the nearest reef ball (0.1740). Leathery functional group was highly positively correlated with depth and negatively correlated with corticated terete and foliose functional groups. Foliose algae were greatly positively correlated with flow and corticated terete algae were slightly positively correlated with distance to the nearest reef ball. Filamentous algae were located at the centre of the plot and therefore were not affected by any of the explanatory variables (Figure 12).



Figure 12. RDA triplot of Hellinger transformed algae functional group biomass constrained by environmental variables. The bottom and left hand scales are the standard deviations for standardized algal functional group biomass and the right hand and top scales are standard deviations of standardized explanatory variables. Green numbers represent Reef Ball number, their location can be found in Appendix I Figure 13. Arrow length indicates the relative influence of environmental variables (blue) and the relative abundance of algae genera (red). The angle between a vector representing algae and a vector representing abiotic factors, between two algae vectors, or between two abiotic factor vectors, is a reflection of their correlation. The first two axes of the RDA triplot represent 16% and 1% of the variation in algae functional groups. A list of algae belonging to each functional group can be found in Appendix II, Table 5.

A global permutation test run on algae functional groups indicated that the RDA model is not significant (p= 0.129) and that water flow, the most influential variable in RDA1, was significant (p= 0.018). A forward selection test indicated that flow was the most significant explanatory variable (p= 0.031) and the only significant variable in the model (depth: p= 0.325, distance to closest Reef Ball: p= 0.669).

3.3 Community Assembly Patterns

A K-means partitioning comparison followed by a global Kendall W test was run to find positively correlated and significantly associated algae genera groups. The Calinski criterion for the K-means partitioning comparison indicated that clustering algae genera into two groups yielded the minimum total error sums of squares (TESS). The global Kendall W test indicated that both groups are globally significant and that at least some species within the group are concordant (Group 1&2: corrected p < 0.0001). An *aposteriori* test revealed that Group One is comprised of the following algae genera: Rhodoptilum, Ulva, Desmarestia, Euthora, Pterosiphonia, Bonnemaisonia, Pterothamnium, Heterosiphonia, Sarcodiotheca, Hollenbergia, Scagelia, Griffithsia, and Ceramium. Group Two is comprised of: Weeksia, Agarum, Callophyllis, Saccharina, Sparlingia, Antithamnion, Cryptonemia, Herposiphonia, Fryella, Callithamnion, Pleonosporium, and Gloiocladia. Weeksia and Saccharina had negative Spearman correlations indicating that they were incorrectly classified and that group two should be split since not all members belonged to the same group. However, upon attempting to split the genera into further groups, the groups were no longer globally significant.

A PCNM analysis demonstrated that there was no significant spatial correlation among algae communities (p=0.46).

Chapter 4 Discussion

4.1 Overview

This study determined that there is a significant relationship between depth and subtidal macroalgal. Results from the redundancy analysis show that only depth had a significant impact on the algae communities that grew on the Reef Balls at Ogden Point while water flow, and distance to the nearest Reef Ball played no significant role. The lack of signal in water flow and distance to the nearest Reef Ball may be due to the low variability in these environmental gradients measured across a small spatial scale (Norton 1992, Duggins et al. 2003). While depth was found to have a significant effect, the model indicated that 77% of the variation in the data is caused by factors other than the environmental variables measured. Possible explanations include grazing, sedimentation, stochastic colonization and priority effects (Benedetti-Cecchi 2000, Almany 2009).

4.2 Environmental Gradients

Environmental gradients did not significantly affect Shannon or Simpson diversity indices. Richness however did increase significantly with increasing distance from the breakwater. This result may be driven by four Reef Balls having much greater distances (~100m) from the breakwater compared to others (15m-60m) (Appendix I, Figure 14). While the four Reef Balls had relatively high richness, there were Reef Balls located closer to the breakwater with greater richness. There may be two reasons for seeing high diversity of distant Reef Balls. First, while the Reef Balls were much further than the remaining sampled Reef Balls, the distance from the breakwater is small when considering the distance that many algal spores can travel (Norton 1992). Second, large pieces of debris such as logs, tires, etc., scattered throughout the study site may provide an alternative source of propagules.

Differences in water flow influence subtidal algal community composition and species richness (Fabricius and De'ath 2008, Palardy and Witman 2011). In this study though, effects of water flow were only seen when algae were arranged in functional groups. Foliose algae were significantly positively correlated and leathery algae were negatively correlated to water velocity. Effects of water flow may be seen at the functional group level due to water flow mainly impacting the morphology of algae and the categorization of functional groups being based on morphology (Steneck and Dethier 1994b, Kitzes and Denny 2005). Algae have been found to make morphological adaptations in high flow in order to reduce drag and the probability of becoming detached from the substrate (Kitzes and Denny 2005, Fowler-Walker et al. 2005, Martone et al. 2012).

The absence of an effect of water flow on genera community composition may also be due to low values in and a small range of water velocities (Table 7) (Ferrier and Carpenter 2009). Water velocities in this study ranged from 0.004m/s to 0.03m/s, whereas water velocities measured in other studies that examined the effects of water flow on algal community composition, such as Duggins et al. (2003) and Ferrier and Carpenter (2009), ranged from 0.1m/s to 0.9m/s and 1.89m/s to 2.98m/s respectively. Large ranges in water velocity may be required to see changes in algal genera community composition as many algae are able to develop morphological adaptations in response to water flow (Kitzes and Denny 2005, Fowler-Walker et al. 2005, Martone et al. 2012). Distance to the nearest Reef Ball was also found to have no significant effect on genera richness, algae composition and functional group. Given that algal spores can travel tens of kilometers, or hundreds of kilometers on a dislodged plant (Norton 1992), and that the study site covers only 120m by 100m, the probability of disproportionate settlemement within the study site is unlikely. Had distance to the breakwater been retained in the redundancy analysis an effect of distance to propagule source may have been detected as distances to the breakwater from Reef Balls is much greater than distances among Reef Balls.

The small spatial scale of the study site and measuring communities across structurally similar habitats resulted in low variation in water flow and distance to propagule sources. Variation in algal community composition can occur at small spatial scales when different microhabitats, in which environmental conditions vary significantly, are measured (Connell 2005, Ferrier and Carpenter 2009). For example, encrusting coralline algae dominate the understory of canopy forming algae where light is significantly reduced, compared to areas with no canopy forming algae where turfforming algae dominate (Connell 2005). In this study, macroalgae communities were sampled across structurally similar habitats with the same orientation, and as a result, the environmental factors measured did not vary considerably across the study site. In order to observe greater variation in factors such as water flow, distance to a propagule source, and even depth, across structurally similar habitats, much larger spatial scales must be sampled (Duggins et al. 2003). For example, to sample a larger range of water flow, or to detect an effect of distance from a propagule source, sample sites may need to be spaced kilometers apart (Norton 1992, Duggins et al. 2003).

Gradients that were not measured, such as sedimentation and grazing, may have also played a role in structuring algal communities on the Reef Balls. High levels of sedimentation often result in turf-forming algae dominating an area due to their ability to resist or tolerate smothering and scouring as well as their opportunistic life cycles (Airoldi and Cinelli 1997). Sedimentation most likely did not play a large role in this study as sedimentation is negatively correlated with water flow and thus, a significant effect from water flow would have been detected (Eckman et al. 1989, Hansen and Reidenbach 2012).

Community assembly in many marine ecosystems are governed by the top-down process of grazing, including subtidal macroalgal communities (Paine 1974, Korpinen et al. 2007, Amsler et al. 2011). Grazers are often responsible for maintaining particular algal communities, diversity, and disturbance patterns (Paine 1974, Korpinen et al. 2007, Amsler et al. 2011). Grazer composition can vary across environmental gradients such as depth and distance from a large propagule source, however these gradients tend to be quite large compared to the gradients measured in this study (Choat and Schiel 1982, Cleary et al. 2005). It is possible that small changes in grazer composition across the study site may have attributed to the significant effect of depth on macroalgae. However, explicit studies would be required in order for this to be determined.

Changes in depth not only result in changes in grazer composition but most notably result in changes in light intensity as well as light spectrum. These changes result in significant changes in algae communities found in this study and others (Vadas and Steneck 1988, Markager and Sand-jensen 1992, Johansson and Snoeijs 2002, Hop et al. 2012). In this study, the greatest difference in algae communities across depths occurred in algae genera that form upper canopies (Figure 10). *Agarum* had the greatest correlation with deeper depths while *Ulva* and *Weeksia* were largely negatively correlated with depth (Figure 10). In this study, *Ulva* occurs mostly at shallow depths, *Weeksia* at intermediate depths and *Agarum* at the greatest depths (Appendix I, Figure 15). *Ulva* absorbs mostly red light and is therefore usually found at shallow depths where red light is available (Prescott 1968). *Agarum* maximally absorbs green light and can therefore grow at deeper depths where green light is able to penetrate (Prescott 1968).

To determine whether the upper canopy biomass versus the lower canopy was driving the results, the upper canopy was removed from analysis and again depth had a significant effect on algae genera. Most algae genera in the lower canopy belonged to the *Rhodophyta* phylum and were found across most Reef Balls. However, there were some that had greater biomass at shallow depths, such as *Pterosiphonia* and *Pleonosporium*, while others had greater biomass at deeper depths such as Fryella (Figure 11). Some red algae, such as *Pleonosporium*, have been found to grow larger under greater light conditions (Murray and Dixon 1975), whereas light has no significant effect on the growth rate of other red algae such as *Griffithsia* (Waaland and Cleland 1972). This is supported by the findings in this study as the biomass of *Griffithsia* was consistent across various depths and therefore various light intensities. Although lower canopy algae grow in environments with less light than upper canopy algae, lower canopy algae are still affected by depth because the presence of an upper canopy reduces only a proportion of the available light at that depth (Reed and Foster 1984, Connell 2003, Irving and Connell 2006a). In addition, the constant motion of water pushing the upper canopy in one direction or another causes the lower canopy to be exposed to full light for portions of a

tidal cycle and covered during different portions of the cycle. As a result, depth which acts as a proxy for light, still demonstrates an effect on the algae community that composes the lower canopy on Reef Balls.

Depth appears to drive the spatial patterns of the canopy genera – Agarum, and *Ulva* and to a lesser extent *Weeksia*. Agarum grows mostly at deeper depths, *Ulva* at shallow depths, and *Weeksia* appears to grow optimally at shallow to mid depths (Appendix I, Figure 15). There also appears to be a zonation of the three genera with respect to distance from shore, which is correlated with depth (Appendix I, Figure 15). Depth also appears to drive the spatial patterns of some of the understory genera such as Pterosiphonia and Pleonosporium, but the majority of understory genera occur either ubiquitously or patchily across Reef Balls. The spatial patterns observed in the upper canopy and some lower canopy algae was not detected by the PCNM analysis (p=0.46). This may be due to the nature of the PCNM analysis as well as the haphazard study design. A PCNM analysis creates a matrix of geographical distances among sample sites and retains distances that are equal to or greater than the greatest distance calculated between closest neighbours (Borcard et al. 2011). This would reduce testing for small scale spatial variation if there are sample sites that are located at great distances from the remaining sample sites, which is the case in my study design (Figure 4). The truncation distance in the analysis was 15m, which is much greater than the distances between Reef Balls that have similar upper and lower canopy algae (Figure 13, Table 7). Significant spatial autocorrelation may also not have been detected due to the majority of algae genera occurring ubiquitously or haphazardly across the study site.

Kendall W's coefficient of concordance test grouped the top 25 most common genera into two groups in which *Ulva* occurred in one and *Weeksia* and *Agarum* occurred in the other. *Weeksia* and *Agarum* being placed into one group by this analysis is an indication that there is a bit of overlap in the spatial distribution of the two genera and the zonation is a bit fuzzy. *Callophyllis*, which occurs in the lower canopy and was found to be positively correlated with depth in the redundancy analysis, was grouped with the deeper occurring *Weeksia* and *Agarum*. *Rhodoptilum* and *Pterosiphonia* on the other hand were placed in the same group as *Ulva* and all were found to be negatively correlated with depth. The Kendall W's coefficient of concordance, provides support that some algae can be grouped into distinct communities based on their response to depth. Less than half of the genera included in the test had significant associations with other genera indicating that a large proportion of algae genera are not significantly affected by depth.

While environmental gradients may play a small role in understory algal distribution, stochastic processes such as dispersal and colonization which influence priority effects may also be a playing a role in addition to the potential role of grazers.

4.3 Stochastic Colonization and Priority Effects

As 78% of the variation cannot be explained by any measured environmental gradients, a potential explanation for the variation observed in the data is due to stochastic processes and priority effects (Benedetti-Cecchi 2000, Almany 2009). Algal communities are often found to be patchy and variable at small spatial scales - on the order of centimetres to metres - where environmental factors do not vary significantly

(Benedetti-Cecchi et al. 2001, Coleman 2002). This spatial variability can arise at multiple stages throughout the lifehistory of a macroalga – spore dispersal, colonization, establishment, survival, and succession (Santelices 1990). Differences or stochasticity in these processes may have affected some algae genera as their occurrence and biomass was spatially variable across the study site (Appendix I, Figure 16). Other algae genera appeared to be less affected by stochastic processes as they were found to occur ubiquitously across Reef Balls with only some variation in biomass (Appendix I, Figure 17).

Random occurrence of some algae genera found in this study may be due to patchy spore distribution patterns which can arise due to differences in current direction and speed at the time of spore release, as well as interactions with variable topography (Bobadilla and Santelices 2005, Gaylord et al. 2012). As a result, several different spore distribution patterns may arise ranging from patchy spore clouds to uniform distributions that decrease in concentration with increasing distance from the source (Kendrick and Walker 1991, Bobadilla and Santelices 2005). Algae genera such as Euthora and Antithamnion that were found across all Reef Balls may have uniform spore distribution patterns compared to algae genera that were only found on a few Reef Balls such as *Fryella.* Spore distributions can also vary among species due to the physical properties of spores, such as size and density (Reed et al. 1988, Santelices 1990). Spore composition is continually changing in the water column as some spores are lost due to sinking or grazing while others are gained due to new spore releases (Santelices 1990). As a result, different compositions of spores encountering each artificial reef unit may have led to the variable spatial distribution.

Variability in algal community composition can also arise during settlement and recruitment processes. For example, while the speed of water passing the Reef Balls did not have a significant effect on the algal community, variations in direction and turbulence of flow may have influenced spore settlement (McNair et al. 1997). Reef Balls that were positioned near another Reef Ball that was in line with the main direction of current may have experienced greater water turbulence and as a result, had a greater proportion of algal spores being directed to its surface compared to Reef Balls experiencing less water turbulence.

Biotic interactions may have also led to the variable spatial distribution of algae genera. Upon reaching and attaching to the surface of the Reef Ball, spores are then exposed to grazers. By clearing a small patch on the Reef Balls, grazers allowed for new species to colonize. Grazer communities have been found to vary at small spatial scales across similar habitat patches (Olabarria and Chapman 2001). Variation in grazer abundances or composition across Reef Balls would lead to different grazing pressures on algal spore communities. Spatial variability in grazer communities occurring at the onset, as well as throughout algal community succession, would play a role in the spatial variability seen in algal communities across Reef Balls. Explicit studies examining the influence of grazers on algal community composition would determine their relative contribution to the spatial distribution of macroalgal communities found in this study.

The sequence in which algae colonized the Reef Balls likely played a large role in community formation (Benedetti-Cecchi 2000) and may have been responsible for the variation in abundance and composition for some algae genera. Algae genera that were affected by priority effects, may have been unable to colonize due to established algae sweeping, shading, and outcompeting them (Santelices 1990). Algae genera found in the upper canopy would most likely be generating these processes since their blades or thalli are large enough to sweep spores off of, reduce the amount of light reaching and, in the case of *Agarum*, pre-empt the physical space on the substrate (Irving and Connell 2002a, 2006b).

Competition may have occurred not only when these algae genera first colonized the Reef Balls but also when disturbances, such as grazing, occurred (Reed 1990). Pressures from competition may have also stemmed from competition with sessile invertebrates, as they also compete for space (Miller and Etter 2008). The algae genera that recolonized the disturbed area would be influenced by many of the temporal and spatial processes described above. The time of disturbance and availability of spores in the area would strongly influence the community that recolonized the disturbed site (Breitburg 1985, Airoldi 2000). If algae genera that differ from the pre-existing specimens recolonize the disturbed site, the spatial variation in algal communities on Reef Balls increases.

4.4 Study Limitations

The greatest limitation to this study is that colonization and succession were not directly measured. Inferences can be made about the effects of colonization and succession on community assembly by eliminating potential effects of abiotic factors, however, specific statements cannot be made. In order to make a supported statement on the effects of colonization and succession on community assembly, specific processes such as spore dispersal, colonization of the substrate and biotic interactions must be tested.

Conducting research in the marine environment has many challenges, especially when conducting research underwater. Challenges were faced throughout the duration of this project, beginning with the deployment of Reef Balls into the study area. As mentioned in the methods section, the original study design was to place the Reef Balls in a block design, however due to environmental conditions such as waves and wind the landing craft was not able to move in a straight line. As a result the Reef Balls were deployed in a haphazard manner affecting the study design and potentially reducing the ability to detect signals in the data due to low replicates at certain depths, light intensities, distances to propagule sources, and water velocities.

The Reef Balls were also deployed across a small area in order to increase the probability of finding them when diving. The original study design had Reef Balls placed at three distinct depths: 6m, 12m, and 18m, increasing the size of the study area to 200m². By increasing the gradient in depth, distance to a propagule source, and potentially water velocity, a greater proportion of the differences in community composition and diversity across an area may have been explained. With greater differences in depth, and as a result light, changes in community composition would not only be detected in algae genera forming the upper canopy genera, but also in those that form the understory, creating a stronger signal between depth and algae community composition (Vadas and Steneck 1988).

Significantly increasing the distance from a propagule source and maintaining Reef Balls at depths that are within recreational dive limits would be challenging as the majority of Vancouver Island's coastline is rocky and covered with macroalgae. However, if a site were found that was kilometres away from the nearest propagule source, a difference in community composition may be detected (Kendrick and Walker 1991).

The haphazard study design made it challenging to find the Reef Balls underwater. The visibility at Ogden Point varies from day to day and can range from one metre to fifteen metres at best (personal observation). On average, the visibility was between six and seven metres, making it difficult to find Reef Balls as their distance from the breakwater and from each other is much larger. In order to increase the ease of finding Reef Balls during collection periods, nylon line was laid out between Reef Balls and fastened to the substrate, providing a path between all Reef Balls. While line was laid out to improve the probability of finding Reef Balls, the lines could be difficult to find or were broken. Algae growth would cover the lines making it difficult to see them and due to the weight of algae growing on it, large detached algae becoming caught on the line, or due to other large debris getting caught during times of high current or turbulence, the line would break. As a result of not being able to see the lines, volunteer divers had a difficult time finding the Reef Balls and as a result, water velocity measurements were not collected from several Reef Balls during one collection period. This reduced sampling of water velocity from three days to two days, potentially decreasing the power of water velocity as a predictor for macroalgal communities (Krebs 1998).

One of the most limiting features of conducting underwater research is the physiological limitation that significantly reduces the amount of time that can be spent

collecting data each day. To set up the quadrats outlining the sample area and to collect algae from all 30 samples required four weeks of diving every day, sometimes twice a day. Collecting data on environmental variables took an additional two weeks. If physiological limitations did not greatly increase the number of days required to collect data, additional studies would have been conducted. The first study would have involved destructively sampling the diversity and community composition of macroalgae on the breakwater to determine the role it played in providing propagules to the Reef Balls. An additional study would be to compare the community composition and development between Reef Balls and the breakwater. By comparing community composition between Reef Balls and the breakwater, a comparison could be made between community macroalgal development between two different artificial reefs. Comparisons could also shed light on the effects that a surrounding established macroalgal community has on the recolonization of a disturbed area compared a new piece of habitat.

If I were to conduct this study again, I would have re-focused my efforts from attempting to move Reef Balls underwater into a block design to conducting studies on the effects of colonization, priority effects, and grazing on subtidal macroalgal communities.

4.5 Overall Conclusions

Determining drivers of community assembly that are predominantly responsible for community composition is a major goal in ecology. This study, in concordance with other studies, has shown that different mechanisms drive different genera of subtidal macroalgal communities in community assembly (Vadas and Steneck 1988). The genus of macroalgae that comprises the upper canopy is determined by the main environmental gradient driving subtidal ecosystems – depth. Lower canopy algae that occur ubiquitously across the study site were not affected by environmental gradients most likely due to the low variation in environmental gradients stemming from the small spatial scale of the study site. Lower canopy algae that occur haphazardly across the study site, may be driven by a variety of mechanisms such as grazing, colonization, and priority effects. This may be due to the fact that the algae genera that made up the upper canopy have more narrow niches when it comes to light requirements compared to red algae found in the understory (Kain and Norton 1990, Pritchard et al. 2013). Red algae have a wider niche as they are able to grow at a wide range of light intensities (Kain and Norton 1990). A possible exception to this prediction is the red algae *Weeksia*, which is found in the upper canopy. While red algae tend to have the ability to grow at a wider range of light intensities, *Weeksia* may be an exception and have a more narrow range of light requirements. Intraspecific competition among upper canopy genera may also be responsible for narrowing the depth range at which *Weeskia* is found.

The different mechanisms that drive different genera of the community also create different spatial patterns. Algae genera found in the upper canopy appear to follow a depth/coastline gradient, while the lower canopy community have genera with ubiquitous and haphazard spatial patterns. Random distribution may arise due to stochastic processes such as spore dispersal, colonization, grazing etc., making it difficult to predict subtidal macroalgal community structure. This may have implications when considering restoration efforts that attempt to recreate specific communities. It brings to question whether heterogeneous macroalgal communities result in heterogeneous communities at

higher trophic levels where most restoration efforts are focused (Seaman 2007). Reef Balls are ideal structures with which to investigate this inquiry as they provide an ideal surface for macroalgae and are designed to support higher trophic levels.

Random distribution of subtidal and intertidal macroalgae has been found in other studies (Coleman 2002), however, it may be a product of the community existing at an earlier successional stage. The structure of algae communities at earlier successional stages has been found to be spatially variable and difficult to predict (Breitburg 1985, Benedetti-Cecchi et al. 2001). As succession continues, many studies have shown a convergence to a more stable and predictable community (Hirata 1986, Pacheco et al. 2011). The understory algal communities found on the Reef Balls may become more predictable at later successional stages.

The study confirms that across small spatial scales and during early successional stages, upper canopy algae genera are structured by narrow depth gradients, while composition of understory algae may be influenced by stochastic processes, priority effects, and grazing. Further studies are required in order to determine the drivers of understory community assembly.

4.7 Future Research

This study has provided the groundwork for future research on the benthic subtidal ecosystem located on Reef Balls at Ogden Point. Through a more exploratory approach, abiotic factors that play an important role in community assembly were determined. Having established some of the important factors influencing subtidal macroalgal community structure, such as depth, future research can focus on more experimental approaches. For example, to determine if the effects of depth on macroalgal communities is due to changes in light, experimental studies manipulating light intensity and spectrum can be conducted.

Research can also focus on directly measuring colonization and succession processes as information gathered from this study only allows for speculation. Determining spore dispersal across the study area, colonization sequence, grazing pressure, and biotic interactions such as intraspecific and interspecific competition will begin to shed light on the specific processes that are responsible for the variability so often seen in subtidal macroalgae communities found at small spatial scales (Benedetti-Cecchi et al. 2001). In addition, macroalgae communities are not distinct from sessile invertebrate communities and often compete for space on substrate (Miller and Etter 2008). Colonization and competition from sessile invertebrates influence macroalgal community structure and composition and must also be investigated to determine the role of interspecific competition on community assembly (Breitburg 1984).

The advantage of using Reef Balls for some of the future studies is that, unlike tiles, they have a large enough surface area to support higher trophic levels including algae grazers and their predators. As a result one could look at the effects that trophic interactions have on community assembly.

Bibliography

- Airoldi, L. 1998. Roles of Disturbance, Sediment Stress, and Substratum Retention on Spatial Dominance in Algal Turf. Ecology 79:2759–2770.
- Airoldi, L. 2000. Responses of algae with different life histories to temporal and spatial variability of disturbance in subtidal reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 195:81– 92.
- Airoldi, L. 2003. The effects of sedimentation on rocky coast assemblages. Oceanography and Marine Biology 41:161–236.
- Airoldi, L., and F. Cinelli. 1997. Effects of sedimentation on subtidal macroalgal assemblages: an experimental study from a mediterranean rocky shore. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 215:269–288.
- Al-Horani, F. a., and M. a. Khalaf. 2013. Developing artificial reefs for the mitigation of man-made coral reef damages in the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea: coral recruitment after 3.5 years of deployment. Marine Biology Research 9:749–757. doi: 10.1080/17451000.2013.765582.
- Almany, G. R. 2009. Priority Effects in Coral Reef Fish Communities Published by : Ecological Society of America. America 84:1920–1935.
- Alongi, D. M. 2002. Present state and future of the world's mangrove forests. Environmental Conservation 29:331–349. doi: 10.1017/S0376892902000231.
- Amsler, C. D., J. B. McClintock, and B. J. Baker. 2011. Amphipods exclude filamentous algae from the Western Antarctic Peninsula benthos: experimental evidence. Polar Biology 35:171–177. doi: 10.1007/s00300-011-1049-3.
- Arrontes, J. 2005. A model for range expansion of coastal algal species with different dispersal strategies : the case of Fucus serratus in northern Spain. Marine Ecology Progress Series 295:57–68.
- Balata, D., L. Piazzi, and F. Cinelli. 2007. Increase of sedimentation in a subtidal system: Effects on the structure and diversity of macroalgal assemblages. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 351:73–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2007.06.019.
- Bates, C. R., and R. E. DeWreede. 2007. Do changes in seaweed biodiversity influence associated invertebrate epifauna? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 344:206–214. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2007.01.002.
- Bates, C., G. Scott, M. Tobin, and R. Thompson. 2007. Weighing the costs and benefits of reduced sampling resolution in biomonitoring studies: Perspectives from the temperate rocky intertidal. Biological Conservation 137:617–625. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2007.03.019.
- Benedetti-Cecchi, L. 2000. Priority effects, taxonomic resolution, and the prediction of variable of colonisation of algae in littoral rock pools patterns. Oecologia 123:265– 274.
- Benedetti-Cecchi, L., F. Rindi, I. Bertocci, F. Bulleri, and F. Cinelli. 2001. Spatial Variation in Development of Epibenthic Assemblages in a Coastal Lagoon. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 52:659–668. doi: 10.1006/ecss.2001.0775.
- Bobadilla, M., and B. Santelices. 2005. Variations in the dispersal curves of macroalgal propagules from a source. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 327:47–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2005.06.006.
- Bonsdorff, E., and T. H. Pearson. 1999. Variation in the sublittoral macrozoobenthos of the Baltic Sea along environmental gradients: A functional-group approach. American Journal of Ecology 24:312–326.
- Borcard, D., F. Gillet, and P. Legendre. 2011. Numerical Ecology with R. Page 306 (R. Gentleman, K. Hornik, and G. G. Parmigiani, Eds.). Springer, New York.
- Borowitzka, M. A., R. C. Lethbridge, and L. Charlton. 1990. Species richness, spatial distribution and colonisation pattern of algal and invertebrate epiphytes on the seagrass Amphibolis griffithii. Marine Ecology Progress Series 64:281–291.
- Bourget, E., L. Lapointe, J. H. Himmelman, and A. Cardinal. 1994. Influence of physical gradients on the structure of a northern rocky subtidal community. Ecoscience 14:285–299.
- Brakel, W. H. 1979. Small-scale spatial variation in light available to coral reef benthos: Quantum irradiance measurements from a Jamaican reef. Bulletin of Marine Science 29:406–413.
- Breitburg, D. L. 1984. Residual Effects of Grazing: Inhibition of Competitor Recruitment by Encrusting Coralline Algae. Ecology 65:1136–1143.
- Breitburg, D. L. 1985. Development of a subtidal epibenthic community: Development factors affecting species composition and the mechanisms of succession. Oecologia 65:173–184.
- Brokovich, E., I. Ayalon, S. Einbinder, N. Segev, Y. Shaked, a Genin, S. Kark, and M. Kiflawi. 2010. Grazing pressure on coral reefs decreases across a wide depth

gradient in the Gulf of Aqaba, Red Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 399:69–80. doi: 10.3354/meps08354.

- Buchanan, J., and G. C. Zuccarello. 2012. Decoupling of Short- and Long-Distance Dispersal Pathways in the Endemic New Zealand Seaweed Carpophyllum Maschalocarpum (Phaeophyceae, Fucales)1. Journal of Phycology 48:518–529. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8817.2012.01167.x.
- Bulleri, F., and M. G. Chapman. 2004. Intertidal assemblages on artificial and natural habitats in marinas on the north-west coast of Italy. Marine Biology 145:381–391. doi: 10.1007/s00227-004-1316-8.
- Bulleri, F., M. G. Chapman, and A. J. Underwood. 2005. Intertidal assemblages on seawalls and vertical rocky shores in Sydney Harbour, Australia. Time:655–667.
- Campana, G. L., K. Zacher, A. Fricke, M. Molis, A. Wulff, M. Liliana Quartino, and C. Wiencke. 2009. Drivers of colonization and succession in polar benthic macro- and microalgal communities. Botanica Marina 52:655–667. doi: 10.1515/BOT.2009.076.
- Campbell, A. H., E. M. Marzinelli, A. Vergés, M. a Coleman, and P. D. Steinberg. 2014. Towards restoration of missing underwater forests. PloS one 9:e84106. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084106.
- Carpenter, R. C. 1990. Competition among marine macroalgae: A physiological perspective review. Journal of Phycology 26:6–12.
- Chapman, A. S., and R. L. Fletcher. 2002. Differential effects of sediments on survival and growth of Fucus serratus embryos (Fucales, Phaeophyceae). Journal of Phycology 38:894–903.
- Chapman, M. G., and D. J. Blockley. 2009. Engineering novel habitats on urban infrastructure to increase intertidal biodiversity. Oecologia 161:625–635. doi: 10.1007/s00442-009-1393-y.
- Choat, J. H., and D. R. Schiel. 1982. Patterns of distribution and abundance of large brown algae and invertebrate herbivores in subtidal regions of Northern New Zealand. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 60:129–162.
- Cifuentes, M., I. Krueger, C. P. Dumont, M. Lenz, and M. Thiel. 2010. Does primary colonization or community structure determine the succession of fouling communities? Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 395:10–20. Elsevier B.V. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2010.08.019.
- Cleary, D., L. Becking, N. Devoogd, W. Renema, M. Debeer, R. Vansoest, and B. Hoeksema. 2005. Variation in the diversity and composition of benthic taxa as a function of distance offshore, depth and exposure in the Spermonde Archipelago,

Indonesia. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 65:557–570. doi: 10.1016/j.ecss.2005.06.025.

- Coleman, M. A. 2002. Small-scale spatial variability in intertidal and subtidal turfing algal assemblages and the temporal generality of these patterns. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 267:53–74.
- Coleman, M. a. 2003. The role of recruitment in structuring patterns of small-scale spatial variability in intertidal and subtidal algal turfs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 291:131–145. doi: 10.1016/S0022-0981(03)00116-3.
- Connell, S. D. 2003. The monopolization of understorey habitat by subtidal encrusting coralline algae : a test of the combined effects of canopy-mediated light and sedimentation. Marine Biology 142:1065–1071. doi: 10.1007/s00227-003-1021-z.
- Connell, S. D. 2005. Assembly and maintenance of subtidal habitat heterogeneity: synergistic effects of light penetration and sedimentation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 289:53–61.
- Crawley, M. J. 2007. The R Book. Page 950. John Wiley & Sons.
- Deysher, L. E., T. A. Dean, R. S. Grove, and A. Jahn. 2002. Design considerations for an artificial reef to grow giant kelp (Macrocystis pyrifera) in Southern California. ICES Journal of Marine Science 59:S201–S207. doi: 10.1006/jmsc.2002.1187.
- Druehl, L. D. 1967. Distribution of two species of Laminaria as related to some environmental factors. Journal of Phycology 3:103–108.
- Dudgeon, S., and P. S. Petraitis. 2001. Scale-dependent recruitment and divergence of intertidal communities. Ecology 82:991–1006.
- Duggins, D., J. Eckman, C. Siddon, and T. Klinger. 2003. Population, morphometric and biomechanical studies of three understory kelps along a hydrodynamic gradient. Marine Ecology Progress Series 265:57–76. doi: 10.3354/meps265057.
- Eckman, J. E., D. Duggins, and A. T. Sewel. 1989. Ecology of understory kelp environments . I . Effects of kelps on flow and particle transport near the bottom. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 129:173–187.
- Edgar, G. J., N. S. Barrett, A. J. Morton, and C. R. Samson. 2004. Effects of algal canopy clearance on plant, fish and macroinvertebrate communities on eastern Tasmanian reefs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 312:67–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2004.06.005.
- Ellison, A. M., M. S. Bank, B. D. Clinton, E. A. Colburn, K. Elliott, C. R. Ford, D. R. Foster, B. D. Kloeppel, J. D. Knoepp, G. M. Lovett, J. Mohan, D. A. Orwig, N. L.

Rodenhouse, V. Sobczak, William, K. A. Stinson, J. K. Stone, C. M. Swan, J. Thompson, B. Von Holle, and J. R. Webster. 2005. Loss of foundation species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3:479–486.

- Eriksson, B. K., A. Rubach, and H. Hillebrand. 2006. Biotic Habitat Complexity Controls Species Diversity and Nutrient Effects on Net Biomass Production. Ecology 87:246–254.
- Fabricius, K., G. De'ath, L. McCook, E. Turak, and D. M. Williams. 2005. Changes in algal, coral and fish assemblages along water quality gradients on the inshore Great Barrier Reef. Marine pollution bulletin 51:384–98. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2004.10.041.
- Fabricius, K. E., and G. De'ath. 2008. Photosynthetic Symbionts and Energy Supply Determine Octocoral Biodiversity in Coral Reefs 89:3163–3173.
- Ferrier, G. a, and R. C. Carpenter. 2009. Subtidal benthic heterogeneity: flow environment modification and impacts on marine algal community structure and morphology. The Biological bulletin 217:115–29. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19875817.
- Foster, M. S. 1975. Algal Succession in a Macrocystis pyrifera Forest. Marine Biology 32:313–329.
- Fowler-Walker, M. J., T. Wernberg, and S. D. Connell. 2005. Differences in kelp morphology between wave sheltered and exposed localities: morphologically plastic or fixed traits? Marine Biology 148:755–767. doi: 10.1007/s00227-005-0125-z.
- Friedlander, A. M., and J. D. Parrish. 1998. Habitat characteristics affecting fish assemblages on a Hawaiian coral reef. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 224:1–30.
- Gabrielson, P. W., T. B. Widdowson, and S. C. Lindstrom. 2006. Keys to the seaweeds and seagrasses of southeast Alaska, British Columbia, Washington, and Oregon Issue 7 of Phycological Contribution. Page 209 (University of British Columbia, Ed.), 7th edition. University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- Garland, E. D., C. A. Zimmer, and S. J. Lentz. 2002. Larval distributions in inner-shelf waters : The roles of wind-driven cross-shelf currents and diel vertical migrations. Limnology and Oceanography 47:803–817.
- Gaylord, B., K. J. Nickols, and L. Jurgens. 2012. Roles of transport and mixing processes in kelp forest ecology. The Journal of experimental biology 215:997–1007. doi: 10.1242/jeb.059824.

- Gaylord, B., D. C. Reed, P. T. Raimondi, L. Washburn, and R. Stephen. 2002. A Physically Based Model of Macroalgal Spore Dispersal in the Wave and Current-Dominated Nearshore. Ecology 83:1239–1251.
- Gaylord, B., D. C. Reed, P. T. Raimoni, and L. Washburn. 2006. Macroalgal spore dispersal in coastal environments: mechanistic insights revealed by theory and experiment. Ecological Monographs 76:481–502.
- Gorman, D., B. D. Russell, and S. D. Connell. 2009. Land-to-sea subsidies terrestrial connectivity : linking to subtidal habitat change on open rocky coasts. Ecological Applications 19:1114–1126.
- Halpern, B. S., K. a Selkoe, F. Micheli, and C. V Kappel. 2007. Evaluating and ranking the vulnerability of global marine ecosystems to anthropogenic threats. Conservation biology : the journal of the Society for Conservation Biology 21:1301–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00752.x.
- Halpern, B. S., S. Walbridge, K. a Selkoe, C. V Kappel, F. Micheli, C. D'Agrosa, J. F. Bruno, K. S. Casey, C. Ebert, H. E. Fox, R. Fujita, D. Heinemann, H. S. Lenihan, E. M. P. Madin, M. T. Perry, E. R. Selig, M. Spalding, R. Steneck, and R. Watson. 2008. A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. Science (New York, N.Y.) 319:948–52. doi: 10.1126/science.1149345.
- Hansen, J., and M. Reidenbach. 2012. Wave and tidally driven flows in eelgrass beds and their effect on sediment suspension. Marine Ecology Progress Series 448:271–287. doi: 10.3354/meps09225.
- Hirata, T. 1986. Succession of sessile organisms on experimental plates immersed in Nabeta Bay, Izu Peninsula, Japan. I. Algal succession. Marine Ecology Progress Series 34:51–61. doi: 10.3354/meps034051.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., P. J. Mumby, a J. Hooten, R. S. Steneck, P. Greenfield, E. Gomez, C. D. Harvell, P. F. Sale, a J. Edwards, K. Caldeira, N. Knowlton, C. M. Eakin, R. Iglesias-Prieto, N. Muthiga, R. H. Bradbury, A. Dubi, and M. E. Hatziolos. 2007. Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737–1742. doi: 10.1126/science.1152509.
- Hop, H., C. Wiencke, B. Vögele, and N. a. Kovaltchouk. 2012. Species composition, zonation, and biomass of marine benthic macroalgae in Kongsfjorden, Svalbard. Botanica Marina 55:399–414. doi: 10.1515/bot-2012-0097.
- Howerton, R. D., and C. E. Boyd. 1992. Measurement of water circulation in ponds with gypsum blocks. Aquacultural Engineering 11:141–155.

- Hughes, T. P., D. R. Bellwood, C. Folke, R. S. Steneck, and J. Wilson. 2005. New paradigms for supporting the resilience of marine ecosystems. Trends in ecology & evolution 20:380–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2005.03.022.
- Hurd, C. L. 2000. Water motion, marine macroalgal physiology, and production. Journal of Phycology 36:453–472.
- Irving, A., and S. Connell. 2002a. Sedimentation and light penetration interact to maintain heterogeneity of subtidal habitats: algal versus invertebrate dominated assemblages. Marine Ecology Progress Series 245:83–91. doi: 10.3354/meps245083.
- Irving, A. D., and S. D. Connell. 2002b. Interactive effects of sedimentation and microtopography on the abundance of subtidal turf-forming algae 41:517–522.
- Irving, A. D., and S. D. Connell. 2006a. Predicting understorey structure from the presence and composition of canopies : an assembly rule for marine algae. Oecologia 148:491–502.
- Irving, A. D., and S. D. Connell. 2006b. Physical disturbance by kelp abrades erect algae from the understorey. Marine Ecology Progress Series 324:127–137.
- Jacobucci, G. B., a. Z. Güth, a. Turra, and F. P. P. Leite. 2010. Influence of a narrow depth gradient and season on the morphology, phenology, and epibiosis of the brown alga Sargassum cymosum. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 91:761–770. doi: 10.1017/S0025315410001633.
- Jardeweski, C. L. F., and T. C. M. de Almeida. 2004. Fish Assemblage on Artificial Reefs in South Brazilian Coast. Journal of Coastal Research 2:1210–1214.
- Jimenez, C., F. X. Niell, and P. Algarra. 1987. Photosynthetic adaptation of Zostera noltii Hornem. Aquatic Botany 29:217–226.
- Johansson, G., and P. Snoeijs. 2002. Macroalgal photosynthetic responses to light in relation to thallus morphology and depth zonation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 244:63–72.
- Kain, J. M., and T. A. Norton. 1990. Marine Ecology. Pages 377–422 in K. M. Cole and R. G. Sheath, editors. Biology of the red algae. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Kastendiek, J. O. N. 1982. Competitor-mediated coexistence: interactions among three species of benthic macroalgae. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 62:201–210.

- Kendrick, G., and D. Walker. 1991. Dispersal distances for propagules of Sargassum spinuligerum (Sargassaceae, Phaeophyta) measured directly by vital staining and venturi suction sampling. Marine Ecology Progress Series 79:133–138. doi: 10.3354/meps079133.
- Keough, M. J. 1983. Patterns of recruitment of sessile invertebrates in two subtidal habitats. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 66:213–245. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(83)90162-4.
- Kitzes, J. a, and M. W. Denny. 2005. Red algae respond to waves: morphological and mechanical variation in Mastocarpus papillatus along a gradient of force. The Biological bulletin 208:114–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15837960.
- Koenig, C. C., A. N. Shepard, J. K. Reed, F. C. Coleman, S. D. Brooke, J. Brusher, and K. M. Scanlon. 2005. Habitat and Fish P opulations in the Deep-Sea Fish Populations Oculina Coral Ecosystem of the Western Atlantic. American Fisheries Society Symposium 41:795–805.
- Korpinen, S., V. Jormalainen, and T. Honkanen. 2007. Effects of Nutrients, Herbivory, and Depth on the Macroalgal Community in the Rocky Sublittoral. Ecology 88:839–852.
- Krebs, C. J. 1998. Ecological Methodology. Page 624second. Harper and Row Publishers, New York.
- Larsson, A. I., and P. R. Jonsson. 2006. Barnacle Larvae Actively Select Flow Environments Supporting Post-Settlement Growth and Survival. Ecology 87:1960– 1966.
- Lotze, H. K., and W. Schramm. 2000. Ecophysiological traits explain species dominance patterns in macroalgal blooms. Journal of Phycology 36:287–295.
- Lubchenco, J. 1982. Effects of grazers and algal competitors on fucoid colonization in tide pools. Journal of Phycology 18:544–550.
- Luning, K., and M. J. Dring. 1979. Continuous underwater light measurement near Helgoland (North Sea) and its significance for characteristic light limits in the sublittoral region. Helgolander wiss. Meeresunters 32:403–424.
- Magurran, A. E. 1988. Ecological diversity and its measurement. Page 179. Princeton University Press, New Jersey.
- Malcolm, H. a., A. Jordan, and S. D. a. Smith. 2011. Testing a depth-based Habitat Classification System against reef fish assemblage patterns in a subtropical marine

park. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 21:173–185. doi: 10.1002/aqc.1165.

- Mann, K. H., and J. R. N. Lazier. 1991. Dynamics of marine ecosystems: Biologicalphysical interactions in the oceans. Page 512. Blackwell Scientific.
- Markager, S., and K. Sand-jensen. 1992. Light requirements and depth zonation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 88:83–92.
- Martone, P. T., L. Kost, and M. Boller. 2012. Drag reduction in wave-swept macroalgae: alternative strategies and new predictions. American journal of botany 99:806–15. doi: 10.3732/ajb.1100541.
- McNair, J. N., J. D. Newbold, and D. D. Hart. 1997. Turbulent Transport of Suspended Particles and Dispersing Benthic Organisms : How Long to Hit Bottom ? Journal of Theoretical Biology 188:29–52.
- Miles, E. L., and R. B. Whitlatch. 1997. "Priscilla": A Portable in situ suction sampling device. Pages 117–121 in E. J. J. Maney and C. H. Ellis, editors. Proceedings of the American Academy of Underwater Sciences, Seventeenth Annual Scientific Diving Symposium (13-16 November 1997). Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Miller, R. J., and R. J. Etter. 2008. Shading facilitates sessile invertebrate dominance in the rocky subtidal Gulf of Maine. Ecology 89:452–62. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18409434.
- Murray, S. N., and P. S. Dixon. 1975. The effects of light intensity and light period on the development of thallus form in the marine red alga Pleonosporium squarrulosum (Harvey) Abbott (Rhodophyta: Ceramiales). II . CELL ENLARGEMENT. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 19:165–176.
- Ngai, N. D., N. D. Cu, and D. A. Tuyet. 2013. Coral degradation and ability of rehabilitation of coral reefs in Co To Archipelago, Quang Ninh province, Vietnam. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 96:50–55. Elsevier. doi: 10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.04.017.
- Norton, T. a. 1992. Dispersal by macroalgae. British Phycological Journal 27:293–301. doi: 10.1080/00071619200650271.
- Norton, T. A., and R. Fetter. 1981. The settlement of Sargassum muticum propagules in stationary and flowing water. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 61:929–940.

- Oksanen, J., F. G. Blanchet, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, P. R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, G. L. Simpson, P. Solymos, M. Henry, H. Stevens, and W. W. 2013. Vegan. Community. Retrieved from Http://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan.
- Olabarria, C., and M. G. Chapman. 2001. Comparison of patterns of spatial variation of microgastropods between two contrasting intertidal habitats. Marine Ecology Progress Series 220:201–211.
- Oritz-Prosper, A. L., A. Bowden-Kerby, H. Ruiz, O. Tirado, A. Cabán, G. Sanchez, and J. C. Crespo. 2001. Planting small massive corals on small artificial concrete reefs or dead coral heads. Bulletin of Marine Science 69:1047–1051.
- Pacheco, A. S., J. Laudien, M. Thiel, M. Oliva, and O. Heilmayer. 2011. Succession and seasonal onset of colonization in subtidal hard-bottom communities off northern Chile. Marine Ecology 32:75–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0485.2010.00398.x.
- Paddack, M. J., R. K. Cowen, and S. Sponaugle. 2006. Grazing pressure of herbivorous coral reef fishes on low coral-cover reefs. Coral Reefs 25:461–472. doi: 10.1007/s00338-006-0112-y.
- Paine, R. T. 1974. Intertidal community structure. Experimental studies on the relationship between a dominant competitor and its principal predator. Oecologia 15:93–120.
- Palardy, J. E., and J. D. Witman. 2011. Water flow drives biodiversity by mediating rarity in marine benthic communities. Ecology letters 14:63–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01555.x.
- Perkol-Finkel, S., N. Shashar, and Y. Benayahu. 2006a. Can artificial reefs mimic natural reef communities? The roles of structural features and age. Marine environmental research 61:121–35. doi: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2005.08.001.
- Perkol-Finkel, S., G. Zilman, I. Sella, T. Miloh, and Y. Benayahu. 2006b. Floating and fixed artificial habitats: effects of substratum motion on benthic communities in a coral reef environment. Marine Ecology Progress Series 317:9–20. doi: 10.3354/meps317009.
- Poos, M. S., and D. a. Jackson. 2012. Addressing the removal of rare species in multivariate bioassessments: The impact of methodological choices. Ecological Indicators 18:82–90. Elsevier Ltd. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.10.008.
- Prescott, G. W. 1968. Ecology. Pages 279–330 *in* W. C. Steere and H. B. Glass, editors. The algae: A review. Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston.

- Preskitt, L. B., P. S. Vroom, and C. M. Smith. 2004. A Rapid Ecological Assessment (REA) Quantitative Survey Method for Benthic Algae Using Photoquadrats with Scuba. Pacific Science 58:201–209. doi: 10.1353/psc.2004.0021.
- Pritchard, D. W., C. L. Hurd, J. Beardall, and C. D. Hepburn. 2013. Survival in low light: photosynthesis and growth of a red alga in relation to measured in situ irradiance. Journal of Phycology 49:867–879. doi: 10.1111/jpy.12093.
- Reed, D. C. 1990. The Effects of Variable Settlement and Early Competition on Patterns of Kelp Recruitment. Ecology 71:776–787.
- Reed, D. C., and M. S. Foster. 1984. The Effects of Canopy Shadings on Algal Recruitment and Growth in a Giant Kelp Forest. Ecology 65:937–948.
- Reed, D. C., D. R. Laur, and A. W. Ebeling. 1988. Variation in Algal Dispersal and Recruitment: The Importance of Episodic Events. Ecological Society of America 58:321–335.
- Ruitton, S., P. Francour, and C. F. Boudouresque. 2000. Relationships between Algae, Benthic Herbivorous Invertebrates and Fishes in Rocky Sublittoral Communities of a Temperate Sea (Mediterranean). Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science 50:217–230. doi: 10.1006/ecss.1999.0546.
- Rule, M., and S. Smith. 2007. Depth-associated patterns in the development of benthic assemblages on artificial substrata deployed on shallow, subtropical reefs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 345:38–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jembe.2007.01.006.
- Santelices, B. 1990. Patterns of reproduction, dispersal and recruitment in seaweeds. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 28:177–276.
- Schiel, D. R. 1985. Growth, Survival and Reproduction of Two Species of Marine Algae at Different Densities in Natural Stands. Journal of Ecology 73:199–217.
- Schiel, D. R., N. L. Andrew, and M. S. Foster. 1995. The structure of subtidal algal and invertebrate assemblages at the Chatham Islands, New Zealand. Marine Biology 123:355–367.
- Seaman, W. 2007. Artificial habitats and the restoration of degraded marine ecosystems and fisheries. Hydrobiologia 580:143–155. doi: 10.1007/s10750-006-0457-9.
- Sebens, K. P. 1984. Water flow and coral colony size: Interhabitat comparisons of the octocoral Alcyonium siderium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 81:5473–7. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=391727&tool=pmcentre z&rendertype=abstract.

- Shepherd, S. a., J. E. Watson, H. B. S. Womersley, and J. M. Carey. 2009. Long-term changes in macroalgal assemblages after increased sedimentation and turbidity in Western Port, Victoria, Australia. Botanica Marina 52:195–206. doi: 10.1515/BOT.2009.036.
- Sherman, R., D. S. Gilliam, and R. E. Spieler. 2002. Artificial reef design: void space, complexity, and attractants. Journal of Marine Science 59:S196–S200. doi: 10.1006/jmsc.2001.1163.
- Siegel, D. A., S. Mitarai, C. J. Costello, S. D. Gaines, B. E. Kendall, R. R. Warner, and K. B. Winters. 2008. The stochastic nature of larval connectivity among nearshore marine populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105:8974– 8979.
- Steneck, R. S., and M. N. Dethier. 1994a. A functional group approach to the structure of algal-dominated communities. Oikos 69:476–498.
- Steneck, R. S., and M. N. Dethier. 1994b. A functional group approach to the structure of algal-domlinated communities. Oikos 69:476–498.
- Steneck, R. S., I. G. Macintyre, and R. P. Reid. 1997. A unique algal ridge system in the Exuma Cays, Bahamas. Coral Reefs 16:29–37.
- Stephenson, A. T. A., and A. Stephenson. 1949. The universal features of zonation between tide-marks on rocky coasts. Journal of Ecology 37:289–305.
- Teichberg, M., S. E. Fox, Y. S. Olsen, I. Valiela, P. Martinetto, O. Iribarne, E. Y. Muto, M. a. V. Petti, T. N. Corbisier, M. Soto-Jimã‰Nez, F. Pã • Ez-Osuna, P. Castro, H. Freitas, A. Zitelli, M. Cardinaletti, and D. Tagliapietra. 2010. Eutrophication and macroalgal blooms in temperate and tropical coastal waters: nutrient enrichment experiments with Ulva spp. Global Change Biology 16:2624–2637. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02108.x.
- Thompson, T., and E. Glenn. 1994. Plaster standards to measure water motion. Limnology and Oceanography 39:1768–1779.
- Toft, J. D., A. S. Ogston, S. M. Heerhartz, J. R. Cordell, and E. E. Flemer. 2013. Ecological response and physical stability of habitat enhancements along an urban armored shoreline. Ecological Engineering 57:97–108. Elsevier B.V. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.04.022.
- Toohey, B. D., G. a. Kendrick, and E. S. Harvey. 2007. Disturbance and reef topography maintain high local diversity in Ecklonia radiata kelp forests. Oikos 116:1618–1630. doi: 10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15689.x.

- Vadas, R. L., and R. S. Steneck. 1988. Zonation of Deep Water Benthic Algae in the Gulf of Maine. Journal of Phycology 24:338–346. doi: 10.1111/j.1529-8817.1988.tb00183.x.
- Vail, L. 1987. Diel patterns of emergence of crinoids (Echinodermata) from within a reef at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Marine Biology 93:551–560. doi: 10.1007/BF00392793.
- Waaland, S. D., and R. Cleland. 1972. Development in the red alga Griffithsia pacifica. Control by internal and external factors. Planta 105:196–204.
- Wahl, M. 2001. Small scale variability of benthic assemblages: biogenic neighborhood effects. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology 258:101–114. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11239628.
- Waycott, M., C. M. Duarte, T. J. B. Carruthers, R. J. Orth, W. C. Dennison, S. Olyarnik, A. Calladine, J. W. Fourqurean, K. L. Heck, A. R. Hughes, G. A. Kendrick, W. J. Kenworthy, F. T. Short, and S. L. Williams. 2009. Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. PNAS 106:12377–12381.
- Wilkinson, C. 2008. Status of coral reefs of the world: 2008. Page 296. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville, Australia.
- Zawada, D. G., G. a. Piniak, and C. J. Hearn. 2010. Topographic complexity and roughness of a tropical benthic seascape. Geophysical Research Letters 37:1–6. doi: 10.1029/2010GL043789.

Appendix I



Figure 13. Aerial map of location of Reef Balls plotted in ArcMap 10.0 with UTM World Geodetic System 1984 projection. Orange circles represent sampled Reef Balls, white circles represent Reef Balls that were not sampled. Numbers on the map correspond to "Reef Ball #" found in Table 6. Arrow in top right corner points in the direction of the breakwater.



Figure 14. Scatterplot of genera richness found at each Reef Ball and distance to breakwater (m). Red line is a least squares regression line.



Figure 15. Distribution of dry algae biomass (g) across Reef Balls. The axes represent UTM values for a WGS-1984 projection. The breakwater would be located in the direction of increasing Northing UTMs and the shore located in the direction of increasing Easting UTMs. Name of the algae genus represented in the plot are located above the plot. Size of the circle indicates the relative biomass of algae genera found at each Reef Ball across the study site. The location of the circles represent the location of the Reef Ball at which the algae genus was found. Circles are only present if the algae genus was found on the Reef Ball. Circle sizes cannot be compared across figures as the scaling differs. Different scaling was used in order to allow algae genera with very low biomass to be seen in the figure.



Figure 16. Distribution of dry algae biomass (g) across Reef Balls. The axes represent UTM values for a WGS-1984 projection. The breakwater would be located in the direction of increasing Northing UTMs and the shore located in the direction of increasing Easting UTMs. Name of the algae genus represented in the plot are located above the plot. Size of the circle indicates the relative biomass of algae genera found at each Reef Ball across the study site. The location of the circles represent the location of the Reef Ball at which the algae genus was found. Circles are only present if the algae genus was found on the Reef Ball. Circle sizes cannot be compared across figures as the scaling differs. Different scaling was used in order to allow algae genera with very low biomass to be seen in the figure.



Figure 17. Distribution of dry algae biomass (g) across Reef Balls. The axes represent UTM values for a WGS-1984 projection. The breakwater would be located in the direction of increasing Northing UTMs and the shore located in the direction of increasing Easting UTMs. Name of the algae genus represented in the plot are located above the plot. Size of the circle indicates the relative biomass of algae genera found at each Reef Ball across the study site. The location of the circles represent the location of the Reef Ball at which the algae genus was found. Circles are only present if the algae genus was found on the Reef Ball. Circle sizes cannot be compared across figures as the scaling differs. Different scaling was used in order to allow algae genera with very low biomass to be seen in the figure.

Appendix II

Table 5. Algae genera collected from Reef Balls, the code name for each genera used in
the RDA triplot, functional group to which they belong and the total biomass o
each genera collected from all Reef Balls

Genera	Code	Functional Group	Total biomass (g)
Weeksia	WFF	Corticated terete	64 844
Agarum	AGA	L eathery	32 879
Rhodontilum	RHO	Corticated terete	27 201
Callonhyllis	CAL	Corticated terete	25 581
Ulwa		Foliose	17 089
Desmarestia*	DES	Corticated terete	3 576
Euthora	EUTH	Corticated terete	3 422
Pterosinhonia	PTE2	Corticated terete	2.658
Bonnemaisonia	BON	Corticated terete	2.249
Pterothamnion	PTE3	Filamentous	1.904
Heterosiphonia	HET	Corticated terete	1.302
Saccharina	SAC	Leathery	1.255
Salishia*	SAL	Corticated terete	0.913
Sparlingia	SPA	Corticated terete	0.627
Antithamnion	ANT	Filamentous	0.564
Sarcodiotheca	SAR	Corticated terete	0.425
Hollenbergia	HOL	Filamentous	0.345
Cryptonemia*	CRY	Corticated terete	0.282
Herposiphonia	HER	Corticated terete	0.281
Fryella	FRY	Corticated terete	0.262
Scagelia	SCA	Filamentous	0.207
Callithamnion	CAL1	Filamentous	0.188
Pleonosporium	PLE	Filamentous	0.184
Griffithsia	GRIF	Filamentous	0.133
Gloiocladia	GLO	Corticated terete	0.131
Phycodrys*	PHY	Corticated terete	0.091
Pugetia*	PUG	Corticated terete	0.043
Polyneura*	POL1	Corticated terete	0.033
Melanosiphon*	MEL	Corticated terete	0.026
Ceramium	CER	Filamentous	0.023
Plocamium*	PLO	Corticated terete	0.021
Trailiella*	TRA	Filamentous	0.018
Polysiphonia*	POL	Corticated terete	0.012
Odonthalia*	ODO	Corticated terete	0.008
Pterochondria *	PTE1	Corticated terete	0.005
Tiffaniella*	TIFF	Filamentous	0.001

* Rare genera (genera that had a total biomass < 0.020g and/or occurred at fewer than 3 sites)

Reef Ball	Genera	Shannon	Simpson
#	Richness	Entropy	Diversity
			Number
1	21	2.07445586	5.697535
2	14	1.49720985	3.30351
4	16	0.9750803	1.665648
7	16	1.42160107	2.590299
12	16	1.82075182	4.283512
13	13	0.46156125	1.244011
14	14	1.00444999	2.118697
15	9	0.23509135	1.091209
18	15	0.69914224	1.40617
19	12	1.45184242	2.968738
20	15	1.08767734	1.875512
21	15	1.31322934	2.840022
22	16	1.7109208	3.836598
23	7	0.07847974	1.024521
31	18	1.76263318	4.39243
56	13	0.59342752	1.336354
58	14	1.47635707	3.393048
59	14	0.86971306	1.671337
60	22	1.97398465	4.935111
63	20	1.56895763	2.944278
64	17	1.34101452	2.122218
65	18	1.12127535	2.202408
66	20	1.2805176	2.677879
69	16	1.1770504	2.730748
72	15	0.72603873	1.48266
85	12	1.09542716	2.067754
87	13	0.89131757	1.810758
88	20	1.41806483	2.663056
89	8	0.73702037	1.619067
90	17	1.38792901	2.911649

 Table 6. Genera richness, Shannon Entropy, and Simpson Diversity Number values

 across Reef Balls

				Distance to	
Reef	Average water			closest Reef	Distance to
Ball	flow(m/s)	Light(lux)	Depth(m)	Ball(m)	breakwater(m)
1	0.023036	37.11104	12.0320	1.74	51.77
2	0.017578	44.79616	12.6116	4.26	49.65
4	0.025297	62.99776	9.7884	1.70	45.41
7	0.016897	53.05429	9.7884	1.70	46.05
12	0.022079	57.20021	9.4936	7.95	37.95
13	0.011104	29.42592	13.526	3.24	54.56
14	0.021900	32.96512	13.2212	3.24	52.61
15	0.021716	44.79616	12.3168	0.91	46.33
18	0.006353	41.25696	12.032	3.38	53.23
19	0.018941	33.57184	9.7884	3.13	60.69
20	0.024466	37.11104	9.7884	1.60	59.07
21	0.013650	33.57184	9.7884	1.60	58.50
22	0.010356	34.62517	9.7884	3.64	56.90
23	0.007109	44.79616	10.3632	7.61	28.95
31	0.022493	57.20021	10.328	7.61	34.16
56	0.028382	53.05429	9.144	0.91	12.64
58	0.032193	48.94208	9.2088	6.32	22.28
59	0.020052	44.79616	9.4236	3.78	24.33
60	0.018523	62.99776	9.7184	3.78	26.71
63	0.007201	32.96512	13.4796	2.18	114.34
64	0.020061	34.62517	13.15	1.17	99.50
65	0.020261	41.25696	13.15	0.91	101.00
66	0.020575	31.08597	13.15	0.91	101.08
69	0.007690	48.94208	12.032	0.91	53.07
72	0.004234	37.11104	12.6116	1.05	46.97
85	0.019384	37.11104	11.7372	2.97	37.60
87	0.015714	58.85184	11.1876	3.79	38.96
88	0.010152	37.11104	11.4524	0.91	37.65
89	0.013913	37.11104	11.4524	0.91	38.56
90	0.013006	37.11104	11.7372	2.78	38.42

Table 7. Raw data for environmental gradients measured at each Reef Ball